
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Transport Committee 

Date Thursday 14 March 2019 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 
Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 

Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Wednesday 6 March 2019 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5525;  
Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5525 
 
For media enquiries please contact Alison Bell, Head of Assembly Communications;  
Telephone: 020 7983 4228; Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about 
individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Transport Committee 
Thursday 14 March 2019 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  
 
(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 
(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 
action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 56) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Transport Committee held on 5 February 2019 to be signed by the Chair as a correct 
record.  
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 56 are attached for Members and officers 
only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 57 - 68) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: David Pealing, david.pealing@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5525 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 69 - 70) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: David Pealing; david.pealing@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 5525 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the action taken by the Chair under 
delegated Authority. 
 
 

6 Elizabeth Line (Pages 71 - 72) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Daniella Dávila Aquije, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000  
 
The Committee is recommended to: 
 

(a)  Note the report as background to a discussion with invited guests on the 

delayed opening of the Elizabeth line and notes the subsequent discussion; and 

 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members 

to agree any output from the Committee’s work on Crossrail. 

 
 

7 Transport Committee Work Programme (Pages 73 - 96) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Daniella Dávila Aquije, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Agree its work programme for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly year, as 

set out in the report; and 

 

(b) Agree to hold a meeting on 25 April 2019, to be used to hold a question and 

answer session with the Commissioner of Transport for London. 
 
 

8 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 Subject to the decision at Agenda Item 7, the next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 

Thursday, 25 April 2019 at 10.00am in the Chamber. 
 
 

9 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 14 March 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5525 

E-mail: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Transport Committee 
Date: Tuesday 5 February 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Committee Room 5, City Hall,  

The Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 

 

 
Present: 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 
Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 There were no apologies for absence. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 
2.1  Resolved: 
 
 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Tuesday 5 February 2019 

 

 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 
3.1 Resolved: 
 

That the minutes of the meetings of the Transport Committee held on 
21 December 2018 and 9 January 2019 be signed by the Chair as correct records.  

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 
That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 
Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

5.2 Resolved: 

 

That the action taken by the Chair under delegated authority be noted, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, namely to agree appointments to the 

Board of London TravelWatch, subject to consultation with the Secretary of State 

for Transport, and related administrative matters. 

 
 
6   Freight in London (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on freight in London to the following invited guests: 

 Alex Williams, Director of City Planning, Transport for London; 

 Rob Fowler, General Manager, CSR and Technical Planning, DPD Group UK; 

 Natalie Chapman, Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport 

Association; and 

 Jace Tyrell, Chief Executive, New West End Company. 

 

6.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Tuesday 5 February 2019 

 

 
 

 

6.3 During the course of the discussion, the Committee requested the following further 

information in writing: 

 Images of the extra visibility had from a five-star vehicle compared to a zero-star 

vehicle; 

 Data on the difference in the involvement of the extra-long lorries in collisions with 

pedestrians and cyclists, or whether all the data for HGVs is amalgamated; 

 How much money will be raised out of the ULEZ from the freight industry for central 

and inner London; 

 An update on any progress made with the Department for Transport and Network Rail 

on upgrading lines outside of London in order to allow freight to be moved around 

rather than through London; 

 An update on removing spoil by rail from HS2; 

 A timeline/date for when TfL will be conducting a staff survey to understand where 

staff get personal deliveries sent to;  

 Clarification on why the commitment for all of London to be within a 30-minute drive 

of a construction consolidation centre was removed as a specific proposal in the final 

Transport Strategy; and 

 An update from the Director of Innovation on TfL’s ability to respond to new 

technology (e.g. dockless bikes, drone and droids) within the current regulatory 

framework. 

 

6.4 Resolved: 

 

 That the report and discussion be noted. 

 
 
7   Transport Committee Work Programme (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the work programme for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly year, as set 

out in the report, be agreed; and 

 

(b) That the Committee’s meeting on 14 March 2019 be used to discuss the Elizabeth 

line with invited guests. 

 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Tuesday 5 February 2019 

 

 
 

8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Thursday, 14 March 2019 at 10.00am, 

in the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
9   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 
9.1 There was no other business. 

 
 
10   Close of Meeting 

 
9.1 The meeting ended at 1.36 pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5525; 

Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5525 
 

Page 8



 

  
 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Transport Committee – Tuesday, 5 February 2019 
 

Transcript of Item 6 – Freight in London 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  All right.  Let us move on to our main item.  I would like to welcome 

our guests before us today.  Alex Williams is Director of City Planning at Transport for London (TfL).  

Rob Fowler - whom a number of us met the other week when we went to DPD to look at your fantastic fully 

electric depot in Westminster - is the General Manager of Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical 

Planning at DPD.  Natalie Chapman is Head of South of England and Urban Policy for the Freight Transport 

Association (FTA).  Jace Tyrell is Chief Executive of the New West End Company Business Improvement District 

(BID) in the centre of London.  Thank you very much for coming along today. 

 

I would like to kick off the questions with perhaps an opener which is general.  How does freight contribute to 

London’s economy and what are the costs of this?  Who would like to kick off?  I am looking at Alex, really. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I think you are.  Freight is 

fundamentally important to the city.  It is a bit of a no-brainer to say that.  The industry is going through a 

period of radical change and the Freight and Servicing Action Plan that we are working on is trying to help 

understand that change and also shape that change. 

 

If you think about how the industry has changed over the last few years, consumer demand has changed 

hugely.  The expectation when you click to buy something is that it arrives pretty rapidly rather than in a few 

days, as it used to be.  If you look at some of the trends, vans are going up and it looks as though that is going 

to be an increase that will be sustained.  Heavy goods vehicles (HGVs), which are a much more regulated 

sector of the industry, are plateauing or going down, and there are a whole range of reasons for that.  There is 

the dotcom revolution, but it is much broader than that, in my view.  It is about the cost of land.  Often if you 

are a plumber or a maintenance engineer, you do not have an office and your office is your van.  There is 

growth there that we are struggling with. 

 

The document that we are working on to publish later this month or next month is the fourth daughter 

document of the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS) and it is trying to understand what the industry is going 

through and how important it is to the London economy and how to shape it going forward.  It is trying to 

shape it in four areas: in terms of safety, in terms of cleanliness where there is some kind of regulatory role that 

we have that the industry needs to respond to, and also in relation to how the industry can be more efficient 

and how we can use land to support the industry where our influence is not as great.  It is about collaboration 

with a whole series of public and private sector providers to try to change behaviours and try to address some 

of those needs. 

 

To your core question, it is fundamentally important to the city and it is going to become even more important 

with a growing city.  The Freight and Servicing Action Plan is trying to address some of those issues. 

 
Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  
Following on from what Alex has said, freight underpins everything that we do.  We are here to support 
London’s businesses, London’s residents, London’s visitors, the people who come and commute and work in 
London every day.  We do not come in for fun because it is actually very expensive.  We come in here to deliver 
what the customer wants when the customer wants it.  There is a huge amount that needs to be done with the 
customer to understand more about the choices that they make. 

Page 9



 

  
 

 
I suppose I will describe a little bit of the magic of the supply chain, because we order stuff and stuff arrives by 
magic and we only really think about it when stuff does not arrive.  That is down to the fantastic, meticulous 
planning that businesses do to try to make sure that they get stuff to their customer on time and as efficiently 
as possible. 
 
Efficiency is really important because it is expensive.  Margins in the transport industry are very small.  We are 
obsessed with the idea of free delivery, and there is no such thing as free delivery.  There is a cost to all of this.  
We are trying to do what we can do as efficiently as possible.  Enabling and helping the industry to be efficient 
is really important. 
 
One of our concerns that we have that we are seeing more and more of in London at the moment is around the 
fragmentation of regulation.  We are seeing more and more that is being done at borough level.  We have the 
33 boroughs in London, plus TfL.  We have an awful lot of agencies doing things in quite often slightly 
different ways.  Even if you look at, for example, loading/unloading restrictions, there is a common rule around 
it, and yet every borough manages to apply that rule in very slightly different ways, which causes massive 
confusion for drivers.  It is about pulling that together. 
 
What we really want to see in London is more leadership on freight at a political level as well.  We no longer 
have a freight team within TfL.  Freight has been spread across the organisation.  I think the former head of 
that freight team is behind me in a listening mode today.  There was that leadership.  What is really important 
is that we need to make sure that freight is not seen in isolation but in everything we do.  In any scheme 
coming forward, we need to make sure that we are thinking about what the implications are for every road 
user, and that includes the implications for freight as well. 
 
Certainly what we want to see - and we have called before for it - is a Freight Commissioner.  We have a 
Walking and Cycling Commissioner.  We have a Night Czar.  We are not looking at it as a mode of transport; we 
are looking at this as the movement of goods, like the movement of people.  Whether it is a Freight 
Commissioner or some kind of a figurehead, somebody who can pull this together at a political level is really 
what we would like to see. 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That was very interesting.  We will come back to that.  There is no such 
thing as free delivery.  That is a useful reminder.  Jace, do you want to come in next? 
 
Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  Yes.  We represent 600 members, particularly 
retail, on Bond Street, Oxford Street and Regent Street, everything from Prada to Primark, and so you can take 
your pick from there.  Every retailer is looking at how they deliver for the customer.  Ten years ago there were 
no online channels for delivery.  Think how much that has changed in a decade.  We think our members are 
about 25% online and instore and so a lot more click-and-collect.  We have about 150,000 people who work in 
the immediate area and they are using that, and that puts more congestion on the roads.  We think that by 
2025 there will be about 50% using online channels and instore delivery functions.  Again, that is huge 
customer demand in quite a short period that we need to address. 
 
Also, we do a lot of work surveying our customers for the reasons they are not coming to the West End and 
what to change.  Particularly for our London consumers the issue of air quality and congestion is now the in 
the top one or two barriers to coming to the West End, whereas ten years ago that was not even on the radar.  
It is linked to this discussion because we are losing customer demand and spend, and the costs of freight and 
delivery are increasing on our retailers as well. 
 
Just one point that is not directly related to freight and waste, but the Elizabeth Line delay has been hugely 
damaging to the West End.  About £1 billion a year we are going to lose every year that it is delayed.  All these 
pressures on freight and costs of trading and not having that new Elizabeth Line are really damaging for our 
members as well. 
 

Page 10



 

  
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is interesting.  Can I just understand that statistic?  Is that 50% by 
2025 customers doing online shopping and picking it up from the businesses on Oxford Street rather than 
browsing and shopping in a traditional way? 
 
Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  50% of online sales, and we think about 20% of 
that is where they click-and-collect.  We have about 10% click-and-collect now and about 20% by 2025. 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That will go up to about 20%?  OK, but 50% of general shopping 
through your retailers will be online? 
 
Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  By 2025, yes, which then changes what you do 
in stores.  It is not about the product now; it is about the brand and the animation, and that is all linked to 
planning policy, which is less relevant here but links to it as well. 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Very interesting.  Rob? 
 
Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 
UK):  Fundamentally, DPD as an organisation, we are a service that we are providing which is demanded by 
people of London who choose to use e-commerce as a preference for how they procure items.  The three panel 
members have summed it up quite nicely.  Freight is much more of a function of demand inside London, 
basically.  We undoubtedly have seen significant growth in this area.  There can be no question that e-
commerce has grown rapidly over the past eight or ten years.  As a result, we by extension have been making 
more deliveries in London and we have been operating more vehicles and we have been increasing the number 
of depots we have inside the city. 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  In terms of responding to consumer demand, you are saying that you 
are responding to what the customer wants, but is there then the challenge between what an individual 
customer wants and the public good?  If I want - I do not know - that thing within an hour, there is a cost to 
that.  There should be potentially a cost to the person but there is a cost to society in terms of putting another 
vehicle on the road, clogging up the streets and air pollution.  Is that being built into any of your work to make 
sure there is a true cost to the customer if they want something within an hour rather than within two days? 
 
Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  If you think about the premium parcel model, the 
time-constrained deliveries, before 10.30am in the morning, there is inherently an additional cost that is added 
by an organisation.  Any organisation like mine is trying to work as efficiently as it possibly can do with the 
resources that it has.  We have no desire to put any more vehicles or drivers onto the roads of London than we 
absolutely require.  While people are changing in that way, it may affect some of your optimisation and your 
route planning, but it does not distort the overall route performance across the course of the day because the 
quantities of them are relatively limited at the moment. 
 
The point that comes out of this is that as volume increases, as we are delivering more into a city centre, we 
get an increase in our density.  Instead of delivering nine parcels to a street, we deliver ten parcels to a street.  
Therefore, the consequences of people changing to a slightly different time are relatively limited because our 
delivery patches once we are inside the city centre are very tight.  We are pretty much in those areas.  We have 
some analysis that shows that when you park a van in a certain location, you can service a significant number 
of properties on foot from that point, and so we are reaching a point where we are doing as much on foot, 
using the van as a base, than we are moving the van between individual locations. 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Do you want to say a little bit - because a number of us came to visit - 
about your electric vehicles (EVs) just at this point? 
 
Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 
UK):  Yes.  DPD Westminster opened in October last year [2018].  That was the official opening; we soft-
opened in September [2018].  It is our first all-electric final-mile delivery depot, which is just off Caxton Street 

Page 11



 

  
 

next to St James’s Park or 55 Broadway.  It is an entirely new operating approach, which has allowed us not 
just to run final-mile EVs but to run a trunking EV solution as well.  We believe we are the first operator that is 
trunking parcels in all-electric 7.5-tonne vehicles. 
 
The project was difficult to put together, to be honest with you.  There were a number of challenges around 
vehicle supply, around EV infrastructure, around accessing properties and securing locations to operate from.  
However, we have put an entirely new operational approach in place to facilitate both a reduction in pollution 
and a reduction in congestion because the productivity from being in the right location for us is phenomenal. 

 

The consequence that we are finding more across London is that B8 space is being pushed further and further 

from the city centre.  The consequence of that is that we by extension lose a number of parcels that a van can 

deliver each day because the drivers are spending two hours travelling into the city centre.  The planning 

decisions to move B8 away from the city centre are having a direct effect on the number of vehicles that we 

are having to run. 

 

The analogy I use is that it is like when you work from home you tend to have an extra hour in the morning 

and in the evening when you tend to be more productive.  We experience the same.  If our drivers’ first delivery 

is less than five minutes from where they are starting their day, they are phenomenally more productive.  That 

allows us to reduce the number of vehicles on the roads.  That B8 space coming together is really important for 

an operator like us. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  The land use is increasingly important, which comes back to what 

Alex [Williams] mentioned earlier about protecting land. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Sorry, what is ‘B8’? 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Sorry.  B8 is warehousing and industrial buildings, in effect.  It is a planning classification. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  You are exactly right.  The one thing 

that is interesting about the DPD depot is that it is quite small.  I do get the point about B8 space being lost, 

but these are relatively small parcels of land that can be put into more productive use.  It is worth knowing that 

the space at Caxton Street used to be TfL land.  It used to be where the managing director kept his chauffeur-

driven car. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  How long ago was this, Alex? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  A very long time ago, but it just shows 

you that for some of these historic spaces there is a much more productive and more modern use.  There is 

plenty of scope for these kinds of facilities with underused carparks in the centre of the city or other space.  

Maybe some of our bus depots, even where you could use this space more productively.  One of the challenges 

of the plan is to see how we can unlock more of these sites for DPD and other companies like it. 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Can I just respond, Alex, with just a couple of points?  One is that the property is a TfL-owned property, 

but there is no financial subsidy associated with this.  This was taken off an agent and so we are not actually 

receiving any financial support to operate the site, which is a major financial cost to our organisation.  It is not 

a cheap exercise that we have gone through. 

 

Page 12



 

  
 

The point around the smaller parcels of land is that this is a different operational change and it has required a 

significant amount of work in the background to make this work, but the educational piece for people inside 

the city that logistics buildings are no longer 50,000 square feet with 40 roller-shutter doors is another lesson 

that we are having to go through.  We are having to talk to a number of stakeholders about helping them to 

identify these types of spaces, which fundamentally in most instances are underused.  We are commercialising 

an asset for them but they do not know we are looking for them.  That is part of the challenge.  We are having 

to spend time educating people on what we are trying to find and how we can make it work as well.  

Stakeholders inside London have to understand that requirements for logistics buildings are changing quite 

rapidly.  There are an awful lot of stakeholders in London to go out and talk to and we are trying to talk to as 

many as we can, but that is one of the challenges. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Natalie, you represent a huge number of organisations.  What changes 

in general have you seen in how freight is being transported?  DPD is trying something rather different here. 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  Yes, 

and DPD is not alone.  There are a number of other companies like DPD that are taking that leadership step.  

Freight is broad and within it we include deliveries.  We include servicing.  One of the things that would be 

good for us to explore is the growth in van traffic we have seen.  There are a lot of assumptions that there has 

been a growth in van traffic, there is a growth in e-commerce, and therefore the two are inextricably linked.  

Actually, that is not the case. 

 

There was a really good report that the RAC Foundation published in 2017 authored by Professor 

Alan Braithwaite.  It said that vans used by package and grocery e-commerce deliveries comprise only a small 

part of the overall van park, less than 4%, and about 10% of van traffic.  If you are a carrying vehicle and are 

involved in deliveries, you are going to be driving around a lot more, whereas if you are a service-related 

vehicle you are going to be parked up for a proportion of the day, but it is still only about 10% of the overall 

van traffic.  There is a lot of assumption that it is all about everybody online shopping and that is bad, but 

actually the biggest amount of growth is service-related.  The challenge around that is -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  About 90% is service? 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  

About 90%, we estimate. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Is that this point Alex made, which I thought was very interesting, 

about offices in the vans? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  Yes, 

and we need to understand more about that.  There is very little in the way of data about vans, partly because 

vans are not registered in the same way as HGVs are and so they are not subject to operator licensing.  You will 

have some vans that are registered to companies and you can make a guesstimate as to what kind of business 

or operation they are in, but a lot of vans of course are operated by tradespeople and they are registered to 

themselves personally.  There is a whole mixture.  If you go out and look on any street and if you look at the 

vans that are liveried, probably the majority of them are service-related, not delivering.  Then there is a whole 

big chunk of course that are not liveried at all and so we have no idea what they are doing.  There is a real 

challenge about understanding more. 

Page 13



 

  
 

 

The concern I have is that we jump to conclusions, which means we then jump to solutions that may not solve 

the problem that we are trying to solve and, in the worst-case scenario, might create some unintended 

consequences.  For example, the draft MTS had - it was taken out of the final version because we did question 

it and the evidence behind it - the idea of encouraging businesses to ban personal deliveries.  Actually, if you 

have a large building with a lot of people working, that could be one van coming here.  It will be making a B-

to-B delivery anyway, on the back of which it has B-to-C.  That is consolidation. 

 

It would be interesting to understand - and I know TfL has banned personal deliveries to their offices - what 

people have done otherwise.  We know they have not stopped shopping online.  That is a given.  What are they 

doing?  Are they doing more click-and-collect?  Are they still getting it delivered to TfL offices?  I do not know 

what the compliance rate is there.  Are they getting more failed home deliveries?  Are we actually increasing 

van traffic in the suburbs, which is less consolidated because we are going greater distances from home to 

home rather than going to one location?  We need to understand more there. 

 

The other aspect that would be interesting to look at as well is that, as someone who shops quite a lot online, 

when you go and do your checkout, you often do not know who the carrier is and you do not know what your 

delivery options are.  What you are told is, “What address do you want it delivered to?”  You are going to put 

either your home address or your office address or maybe a family member, but you are quite often not given 

your click-and-collect options as that stage.  I know there is a lot of encouragement to say to people, “Let us 

do click-and-collect”, and some retailers are very good at that, but others are less so.  That is something that 

we perhaps need to talk to retailers about: making it much clearer to the consumer what options are available 

to them. 

 

Coming back to that central point, we need to understand far more about what is going on with vans and not 

make that assumption.  In overall traffic terms, we are talking about only 1.5% of all traffic.  This was based in 

London and it was taking the worst-case scenario but I would certainly encourage the Committee to look at 

that report. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Do you mean of the 10% of vans, only 1.5% -- 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  Of 

the 10% of vans, it was still only 1.5%, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you for that.   

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  Just to echo Natalie’s point on that smart use of 

consolidation, for us, only 1% of our customers arrive in private vehicles but we have a huge number of car 

parks that are not full.  There are in fact 20% to 25%.  They are a hangover from the 1960s and 1970s when 

everyone drove to city centres.  It is linked to the planning policy.  Can we repurpose these car parks dotted all 

around the West End - like in Park Lane - and use them for consolidation? 

 

We have had some really good examples.  The Crown Estate has consolidated with the office sector and the 

retailers and has reduced now by 30% vehicles coming in.  Its consolidation delivery vehicles are electric now.  

It works when you have a single owner of a street.  We have a lot of fragmented ownership across the West 

End.  It also links back to the planning policy.  Retailers do not need all these floors in their buildings anymore 

to sell goods.  They can consolidate.  Retailers can come together and use one of their floors as a number of 

Page 14



 

  
 

retailers together.  That has to come back through the planning policy at a local level and strategic planning 

policy to help with that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We will get into some detail on consolidation later.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  We are going to do consolidation?  I wanted to ask about the drop-boxes.  Do we want to 

deal with that under consolidation? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Do you mean lockers? 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Why not ask it now?  Go on. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Rob, thanks for your hospitality the other day. 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  No problem. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  About the drop-boxes, you were saying quite rightly - and I agree with the argument that 

you make - about dropping off to offices.  Of course, that does have an on-cost for the offices because they 

have to have somebody who goes around distributing them around their staff, but for the first time I used a 

drop-box last night.  I thought it was very good.  I usually get my goods delivered by the post office, who 

cannot deliver to my house, and so I then have to go miles and miles to wherever they drop it off at; whereas 

last night I could just simply to go to the Shell station and pick it up on my way home.  What is your view on 

that? 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Lockers and pickup shops are classed as virtually interchangeable with the exception of perhaps a few 

hours overnight when they are closed.  If you look at the TfL idea about banning personal deliveries into 

Palestra, we know that the majority of carriers now inside London - and there are only a handful of major 

carriers that account for a significant percentage of the parcel marketplace - all have pickup shops.  At DPD we 

have one inside five minutes of any walking location inside the city centre and so we are getting the same 

thing, effectively.  What we are doing is consolidating deliveries.  Whether that is into a locker or whether that 

is into a shop, you achieve the same result, basically. 

 

That is part of the query I have around when you ban these deliveries to offices and you stop these types of 

things.  Actually, all that happens is the van delivers to the other side of the street rather than delivering than 

to the Palestra side of the street or another building - let us not talk about TfL - within there. 

 

Lockers are a great solution that have been looked at, but they come with problems.  We do have them within 

the DPD Group inside Europe in certain locations.  However, when you are putting high-value items into these 

lockers, they just fundamentally do not have the security that you would find with a pickup shop location.  

That is one of the concerns we have about them.  They can be vandalised.  There is nobody there to talk to.  

These are things that parcel carriers build their reputations on.  Their interface with customers and their unique 

selling point (USP) becomes that engagement with people.  That is why pickup shops would be a great 

solution, but pickup shops would be our preference.  Lockers are not something we are progressing at the 

Page 15



 

  
 

moment.  We are much more interested in building a pickup shop network where you can deliver parcels and 

collect and achieve the same result. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Would they be 24 hours?  For instance, my parcel did not arrive until 9.00pm last night, 

but the good thing is that I was driving past it at 10.30pm and so happy days. 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Yes.  If you look across the distribution and when we are delivering our parcels and when you are 

collecting from the pickup shops, the majority are within the working-hours window.  If you look at who we 

have in our customer base, you can collect from a Halfords until 8.00pm at night, I believe.  There are 

extended periods of time that allow people to collect outside the traditional 9-to-5 window as well.  You may 

not be able to access it at 1.00am in the morning but at 8.00am in the morning it will be back open and 

available for you. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I briefly wanted to say that surely it is better that people are picking up their items 

close to where they live than from the centre of London when they have to carry everything back on the Tube 

or on the bus to get home with them, creating more crowding on public transport.  Do you have preferences 

for doing those deliveries close to where people live rather than bringing them in to where people work in the 

centre? 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  This goes back to Natalie’s [Chapman] point earlier when we talked about private car usage declining.  

What you are seeing is a shift of product which would perhaps not traditionally have been delivered.  Perhaps 

going back five or ten years, you probably went to pick up your washing machine from Currys or wherever it is 

you get a washing machine from; whereas now that type of delivery is having to shift towards a delivery vehicle 

because people do not have that ability to facilitate large deliveries. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That would always go to someone’s home address.  You would not get your washing 

machine delivered to TfL. 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Yes, but we are still delivering that when perhaps historically people went out and collected that 

themselves.  There is a change in terms of products. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Sure, but I am talking about the smaller parcels that people are getting delivered to 

their workplaces.  Surely it is better from a policy point of view that they get delivered to pickup points close to 

where people live rather than in the centre. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is why we had recommended click-and-collect at stations be 

pursued by TfL and with Network Rail.  The idea is that you are on your way home, get to your local station 

and can then pick up there, rather than picking it up from your office in town or somewhere. 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  For me, what is probably more important is the first-time success delivery rate, particularly in the 

small-parcel world.  Actually, what is more important is not putting a van back out on the road carrying 

something that it has already carried.  By putting people close to their deliveries, whether that is at home or 

whether that is close to their office, as long as you are getting the parcel to them on the first instance, that is 

probably more significant for me. 

Page 16



 

  
 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  OK, but from a public policy point of view we would rather those deliveries were 

happening in outer London to pickup points so that people can collect them in walking distance of where they 

are living rather than in walking distance of where they work. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  A quick point and I hope it is not off point.  I am constantly amazed whenever I am 

getting anything delivered that the size of the box often has no relevance to the item inside, which implies to 

me that the size of vehicles could be dramatically reduced if packaging was reduced.  Is anybody doing any 

work on that at all? 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  That 

is a very interesting point about packaging.  I have also received some parcels and some small items in some 

peculiarly large boxes.  The challenge when looking at vans is that it is very difficult to start shrinking vehicles 

because you need that flexibility.  If you buy a van, you want to be able to run it all through the year, including 

to accommodate your peaks as well, and you cannot then shrink that vehicle.  There is a challenge there. 

 

Absolutely, you are right.  There are challenges to go back to some of the retailers to say, “How are you 

packaging some of your items?”  There is a whole general conversation about packaging and waste because of 

course that creates more recycling or waste in itself that needs to be then dealt with.  We would rather see that 

reduced in the first place.  Overall - and Rob [Fowler] could probably add more on this one - the idea is that 

you would have a van anyway. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I am thinking more as well of being able to hand-deliver things if it is easier.  My 

local supermarket has lockers opposite the train station and so they are ideally placed, but I would be very 

reluctant to go if I am ordering something that comes in a box this size, which is what I got the other day. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Also, it increases the capacity of vehicles and probably reduces frequencies if you are able 

to pack more in rather than less. 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Yes.  Ultimately, my organisation delivers the parcels that it collects from the retailers and so Natalie is 

right that this is probably an issue that needs to be discussed with retailers perhaps more than with carriers. 

 

The point about van flexibility is absolutely right and it is often something that we talk about: van utilisation 

and productivity.  Having a larger van is a more flexible solution.  You would not have a small van and a large 

van and ask the driver to pick which one they fancy in the morning.  It is not the way to run a business. 

 

The key point is that we either max out our productivity based on volume - ie you cannot get any more parcels 

in - or max out based on how many parcels that individual is capable of delivering in a day.  Let us say 100 

parcels or whatever that number might be.  In some instances, you may look in the back of a van and you may 

query why that van is not absolutely stuffed full, but if a driver has 100 parcels on board and that is all he can 

deliver in a day, ultimately they may find that day-to-day fluctuations mean that it might be 60% full on one 

day and 90% full the following day but they may deliver the same number of parcels.  By having that larger 

van, as an operator it gives you that flexibility. 

 

We have introduced a smaller van.  We have introduced a micro vehicle.  We can get 135 on a very small 

vehicle running out of DPD Westminster and so there are solutions.  It is about balancing the fleet mix across 

the type and size of vehicles that are available to you and trying to operate as smartly as you can do.  There is 

Page 17



 

  
 

no point in putting on a smaller van and finding that it cannot carry more than 60 parcels one day and putting 

a second van out.  That is not beneficial for what we are trying to achieve. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Can I just pick up with Alex before we move to the next section?  TfL 

has a Freight and Servicing Action Plan, which will be coming out, from the reports we have had, in early 

March [2019]? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Will that have new targets for TfL? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  There is already a target in the MTS. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Will it break it down and have some intermediate ones and so on? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  No, the target - following the 

[London] Assembly’s advice, actually - is an intermediate target to 2026 in terms of the 10% reduction in 

freight movements in the morning peak in central London.  There will be a disaggregation of that between 

HGVs and vans.  There will be targets in there. 

 

There are also a whole series of proposals in there to try to address many of the issues that the freight industry 

is facing.  An example of that is what we have just talked about, the lockers and the click-and-collect, and 

whether we can do more on that to stimulate that. 

 

It is worth going back to the example of TfL banning personal deliveries.  We did that over a year ago now.  We 

did that because it was quite evident -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We asked you to, did we not?  I think we did. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I am not sure whose idea it was, but I 

will just say that we did it because it was quite evident from the buildings we were in that the deliveries were 

causing a problem on busy bus routes and it was causing congestion there.  It was quite evident that we had to 

do something about that.  There are high levels of compliance.  People do not get personal deliveries at work 

anymore. 

 

One of the things we do need to do - which is to address Natalie’s [Chapman] point - is about what has 

happened because people, clearly, have not stopped shopping online.  I was struck when DPD or one of the 

other companies was talking about how one of their busiest days is now a Sunday.  There is a lot more pushing 

for this to be done in off-peak periods when people are at home so that missed collections are lower as a 

result.  We need to do some surveys as to what people have done as a result of it, but certainly it was done 

because of the congestion problem in our central London locations. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Great.  Thank you.  I was going to then move on to the impact of 

freight deliveries in London.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Hello, everyone.  Just thinking about the number of freight deliveries there are, would 

you say that the number of lorries and vans that are delivering freight is going up over the years or staying the 

Page 18



 

  
 

same or going down?  Is there anything we can do to reduce the amount of freight traffic on the roads, 

possibly by using other modes of transport as well?  What are your thoughts about those things? 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  

Freight movements, yes, are increasing, particularly van movements, as we have discussed, and that covers 

servicing as well as deliveries.  What we also have to understand of course is that London’s population is 

increasing and we are meeting a demand.  More people means they demand more stuff and that means that 

has to be delivered.  If we are also at the same time trying to encourage people to live car-free or be less 

reliant on a private car, then they are going to be even more reliant on the freight industry to deliver things to 

them, wherever that right place may be. 

 

What we need to look at is the whole-system approach.  It is not to say that freight movements are increasing 

and that that is really bad if freight movements are increasing a little bit but private cars are reducing a lot 

overall.  We have to look at the bigger picture of that and understand more about what that means. 

 

On your other point, there is much greater use we can make of the network that we have.  We have limited 

scope to build more roads in London.  What we need to do is to make better use of the capacity we already 

have when it comes to roads.  That is looking at things like retiming deliveries, to try to encourage more 

deliveries to be made particularly out of that morning peak to meet the MTS target. 

 

We know that is possible.  We did it for the [2012] Olympics.  Needs must.  Unfortunately, it did not 

automatically then continue.  What we have found is that it takes a lot of intense resources to make this 

happen.  After the [Olympic] Games, TfL put a lot of resource into a retiming deliveries programme and in fact 

I chaired the Retiming Deliveries Consortium.  They produced a toolkit on retiming deliveries, which is 

fantastic.  I forget the actual figure now but a huge number of sites were retimed as part of that programme, 

but it was very resource-intensive.  It happened because TfL had the resources to put in to make that 

happened.  It was people talking to the retailers, talking to the customers, talking to the local authorities and 

bringing everybody together.  There is a process that can work but we have to put that right amount of 

resource in to make that happen. 

 

The second thing I would say is that there are a lot of deliveries that happen in the morning because they need 

to.  A lot of things like construction movements happen in the morning and that is because things are needed 

onsite at the start of the day.  There is no point in delivering sandwiches after lunch.  They need to be 

delivered nice and early.  However, does all of that need to happen in the 7.00am-to-9.00am period?  With 

some of the construction stuff there are difficulties over planning consents and noise issues, but there is a lot 

that can happen before 7.00am.  Some of that is down to planning conditions that prevent deliveries being 

made earlier.  Some of it is around whether the customer is willing to receive the delivery earlier and whether 

they are around. 

 

Also, the other elephant in the room is the London Lorry Control Scheme, which is currently undergoing a 

review and I am really pleased to see that London Councils has been advertising for a project manager to 

manage the next stage of the review. 

 

A lot of people are quite unfamiliar with the London Lorry Control Scheme.  It is not a ban - it used to be called 

the London Lorry Ban - but it does heavily restrict the movement of goods vehicles over 18 tonnes at night 

and at weekends.  It operates on Saturday afternoon and all day Sunday, which may have made sense in 1986 

but we have to look at ourselves in 2019 and ask if that is really appropriate.  It ends in 7.00am in the morning.  

Whilst it is not a ban, it is a restriction and it does for many have the same effect.  It requires some vehicles to 

Page 19



 

  
 

go on quite large detours.  If you get it wrong - and it is quite easy to get it wrong if you just come off the 

excluded road network just a bit too soon - the company is slapped with a £550 fine plus £130 for the driver as 

well.  It is expensive if you get it wrong and so a lot of companies just do not. 

 

We would certainly urge the [London Assembly Transport] Committee to work with London Councils and push 

London Councils to be innovative in this review.  They probably need some help, some support, some resources 

and some leadership as well to enable that to happen.  That is something we would like to see because we 

could make much better use of our roads.  That is the roads issue. 

 

Then, looking at other modes, there is definitely potential to make greater use of the river, particularly for 

things like waste and aggregates.  You are not going to put everything on there.  You have to look at where 

the delivery and collection point is and how close that is to the river.  There is definitely that opportunity to do 

more there.  Of course we need to do -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We will get into that in the next section in more detail. 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  OK, 

we will talk about that in a moment.  On rail, there is probably some limited stuff for London, but the big 

challenge that London faces with rail is that most of the rail freight using London’s network is not destined for 

London.  It is using London’s network because there is not the gauge capacity elsewhere in the country.  It is 

good overall, but we are competing with congested commuter routes as well.  Hopefully, that answers that. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes, absolutely.  Thank you very much.  Alex from TfL, do you have anything to say on 

this? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I can probably give you some numbers 

from the MTS.  The analysis that was done there talks about van traffic going up by 43% between now and 

2041 and HGV traffic falling by 6%.  That is the scale of the problem we are facing.  If you think about some of 

the traffic trend analysis we get from the Department for Transport (DfT), there has been a long-time decline 

in car use in London and a decline in car use across London.  The exception to that is the increase in van 

traffic.  That is pushing the numbers up, certainly in outer London.  That is a cause for concern, which is why 

we are looking at the Freight and Servicing Action Plan. 

 

The challenge with all of this is that, with a growing London economy, the volume of goods that London 

consumes means we are reliant on a very extensive freight and servicing industry to support it.  What we want 

to look at is how that industry can be more efficient, how it can be safer, how it can be cleaner and how we 

can support it with the appropriate land. 

 

David Kurten AM:  As Natalie [Chapman] said, the population has been going up as well.  It has gone up by 

about two million in the last 20 years.  Has that been a factor in the increase in vans, do you think? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It has, but also we have seen a move 

away from HGVs to vans.  That is partly a reflection of the fact of how regulated that industry is.  The average 

age of an HGV driver is over 60, I think. 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  It is 

late 50s, yes. 

 

Page 20



 

  
 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It is quite a regulated industry, 

whereas anyone with a driving licence can rock up and drive a van and work in a servicing or freight industry.  

It is much less regulated.  One of our challenges is how we increase the efficiency in that industry to deal with 

the volumes we are looking at. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thanks.  Another thing I am interested in is the safety record.  You mentioned HGVs 

there, which are involved in more collisions as a proportion of the traffic and the kilometres that they drive.  

What do you hope the Mayor’s Vision Zero plan and the Freight and Servicing Action Plan will do?  What 

specific steps are there in those two things to try to bring down the accidents and collisions? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The first thing is to mention the scale 

of the problem and it is a substantial problem, particularly with HGVs.  They are involved in 63% of fatalities on 

our road network and they account for less than 5% of the mileage on the network.  They are 

disproportionately a significant factor in the safety issues for our road network. 

 

Both the Vision Zero plan and this plan will refer to the key initiatives to improve safety.  The flagship policy 

there is the Direct Vision Standard (DVS).  We are in the final consultation on that now and we aim to be 

issuing the first permits in October this year [2019] with that coming into full effect from October 2020.  There 

is a lot of really good work with the FTA and other members of the freight industry about defining that 

standard so that it is an appropriate system approach to improve the safety record of those vehicles. 

 

If you do get a chance, I really would recommend going in a five-star vehicle and comparing that with a three-

star vehicle or a zero-star vehicle.  Five-star vehicles are fantastic in terms of the visibility you have as a driver 

or a passenger of the surrounding network.  You feel much more connected with the road, much more aware 

of what is going on, and it is absolutely the right direction of travel. 

 

Our issue with the DVS is working with every single operator in London to make sure they transition to these 

vehicles as quickly as possible. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Do you have any statistics that show that the five-star vehicles are safer and have fewer 

accidents than other categories? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  There is a lot of analysis and it is all on 

the DVS website.  I can send you some images of the extra visibility that you have in a five-star vehicle 

compared to a zero-star vehicle.  That is mapped out in terms of the people you can see.  It is quite shocking, 

actually, the number of additional people you can see. 

 

Also, the research indicates that through that direct vision you have an earlier sight of individuals around the 

vehicle and that earlier sight means that you are able to respond sooner.  It may be only a second earlier, but 

that second could be the difference between someone dying or not dying.  All of that evidence and analysis - 

and we worked with Loughborough University on that - is all available on the website and I will send that to 

you. 

 

David Kurten AM:  OK, thanks.  Do any of the rest of you have any thoughts about the Vision Zero plan and 

the Freight and Servicing Action Plan and the DVS and these things Alex has talked about? 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  In 

the Freight and Servicing Action Plan there are a lot of different measures.  Most of them are things that are 

Page 21



 

  
 

already referenced within the MTS and many of those are things that are underway.  As I said earlier, what we 

need is leadership and resourcing to make some of that stuff actually happen, particularly things like retiming. 

 

On the DVS, we have been working very closely with TfL as it has been progressing.  It has posed some 

significant challenges to our industry.  In principle, there is a real issue when cities set their own vehicle-related 

standards.  In an ideal world, that really should be set at a European Union or a United Nations international 

level.  Those conversations are ongoing.  Eventually, we will see increased direct vision rolling out through new 

vehicle design, which means that all vehicles will have that. 

 

Also, coupled with that, technology is going to deliver some real safety benefits as well because it takes away 

the human error element.  At the end of the day, you can have a vehicle filled with all of the direct vision, but 

you still have a human being behind the wheel and you still have human beings interacting with that vehicle.  

That is always going to be a challenge. 

 

Again, this is where it comes to that leadership and that vision on freight.  The challenge we have had is that 

we have this scheme, which is around safety, and then we also have the Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) 

coming, which is around air quality, and the uncertainties around the DVS.  It is a very big step to make.  

Setting up a whole new vehicle standard is really complicated.  TfL has been tasked with doing it in a very short 

space of time.  We as an industry have had lots of uncertainty about what that looks like, what it is going to 

mean, the vehicles and the alternatives. 

 

It has meant that a lot of operators have held off from purchasing new vehicles because they do not want to 

make a significant investment until they know that what they are going to be buying is going to be the right 

vehicle.  They do not want to buy something to be told, “Sorry, you cannot operate it here”.  Sadly, some of 

those Euro VI vehicles we would have seen perhaps enter the market sooner in London, given those air quality 

benefits, have not.  There is a bit of a trade-off.  There were two different schemes and it just needed that 

leadership looking at everything holistically, which is where the challenge really has been. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes.  Thank you. 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  It is complicated because, as you say, we are 

looking at personal deliveries, we are looking at servicing, we are looking at perishable goods and non-

perishable goods.  It is very dynamic and fluid and it is moving very rapidly. 

 

For us, there are some good examples.  John Lewis, for example, is using all EVs now in its fleet.  McDonald’s 

is looking at biofuels. 

 

To Natalie’s point, there are so many policies that our businesses are trying to respond to.  You have boroughs 

where there are different policies.  You have strategic plans for London and national directives.  Before they 

make that significant capital investment, whether servicing or freight, they need to understand the policy 

context they are working in.  That is really important. 

 

On the leadership point, for the boroughs and for London it is so complicated.  Strategically, this needs to be 

looked at by the Greater London Authority (GLA) to get the boroughs more aligned on this as well. 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  

Absolutely.  Just following up from Jace’s points, one prime example of that is the Ultra Low Emission Vehicle 

(ULEV) zone that we have seen introduced in Hackney.  We cannot fault Hackney’s ambition and aim and we 

Page 22



 

  
 

absolutely support the requirement to improve air quality.  The challenge we have had is that this has been a 

scheme that has been introduced at very short notice with very little business engagement.  They engage with 

the businesses on the streets affected, but there has been little wider business engagement with the 

companies that deliver to and service those premises. 

 

There is a lot of confusion.  People are getting confused between the ULEZ and the ULEV.  What is the 

difference?  The ULEZ is Euro VI but the ULEV is less than 75 grams per kilometre of carbon dioxide (CO2).  

There are quite a few cars around now that meet that definition, plus plugin electric as well.  For vans, we are 

talking about only plugin electric.  There are not any vans that meet that definition.  For HGVs, we do not even 

measure them in that way and, if we did, they would not meet that standard. 

 

The Government in its Road to Zero Strategy has committed to creating a definition of an ultra-low emission 

truck.  We do not yet have that.  Actually, what we need at a national level is a framework for local authorities 

to work towards. 

 

However, ultimately, we are just too soon for some of those stick approaches.  What we are seeing is that the 

investment the DPD has made is not insignificant.  It is not a case of swapping a diesel van for an electric van.  

It was a change in the whole business model.  It was procuring the vehicles at much higher upfront cost.  The 

availability of those vehicles is a real challenge.  We are talking to a number of our members that want to and 

have the money, but the manufacturers do not have the supply of those vehicles and have some very long lead 

times. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We will pick that up and also the lack of right-hand-drive EVs.  That 

was one of our takeaway moments from our visit. 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  With 

registering them as well with the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA), there has been some real 

hiccups there.  A number of companies have said to us that they are finding some real hurdles there on the 

administrative side.  It is finding the right land and the right location and having the right charging 

infrastructure. 

 

What we need to be doing is working with businesses that have the resources and want to do that leading the 

way, rather than introducing punitive schemes that will actually ultimately hit businesses that do not have that 

alternative, where the vehicle is not available, where they do not have the access to finance, particularly small 

business operators of specialist vehicles.  Companies like DPD and others will be leading that way.  They will be 

creating that market.  Those vehicles will start to come down in price.  That will start to trickle through. 

 

However, we are a little bit too soon on that.  Hackney has introduced this.  The City of London [Corporation] 

has been looking at some zero-emission streets and has been engaging with us very well, I have to say.  

Outside of London, Oxford is now looking to bring forward plans for a zero-emission zone.  It is not even just 

authorities in London. 

 

One of the things we need to see is a national framework on this.  Clean air zones have a national framework 

but there is no national framework or definitions for these vehicles.  In the absence of that, of course, we have 

authorities that have the ambition and want to do something, but they are probably doing something in a way 

that is not most helpful for their local businesses and residents. 

 

Page 23



 

  
 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Can I just add a couple of points into this?  EV supply and infrastructure I am sure will come up over the 

course of this discussion and so I will probably talk about that as a separate entity. 

 

On DVS, no one can argue with what the MTS is trying to achieve, absolutely not, but it is very difficult when 

you are procuring vehicles to convince a manufacturer to make a vehicle for just one city.  If you look at the 

global manufacturing structure, Volkswagen Group accounts for a significant number of vehicles on the road 

and produces these vehicles to service all of Europe, parts of South America and wherever else.  To convince 

them to make a vehicle that is compliant for one city is very difficult, particularly if Birmingham makes a 

different decision and Manchester makes a different decision.  That is an issue we are having to work through. 

 

Just picking up on Hackney as well, the problem we have with Hackney is that the way it is set up does not 

make any sense.  We have a compliant vehicle, which is a hybrid vehicle that switches between fuel types.  Its 

assessment is based on its overall CO2 per kilometre.  In effect, I could drive it there on electric, flip it into 

petrol, drive it through the ULEZ in petrol and come out the other side without any problem.  That does not 

make any sense and that is not what Hackney is trying to achieve.  While we understand that the boroughs are 

trying to make these decisions and that is absolutely the right thing to do, a coherent approach has to be had.   

 

The Clean Air Framework, issued by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, sets it out very 

nicely in a structure.  I can look at any city in the United Kingdom (UK) and work out where I stand.  We will 

have a really significant problem if I have six different standards in the six central boroughs in London because 

fleet procurement on that basis is phenomenally difficult; whereas if we have a standard for London we will 

know that these types of vans will work inside the city centre and be compliant.  I entirely understand what 

Hackney is trying to achieve, but you have to be pragmatic about what the industry can do and what 

manufacturers are doing.  All of these pieces need to work together at a relatively similar rate to allow us to 

deliver the change that you want to deliver.  TfL can make all the policy in the world, but we procure vans and 

deliver parcels and operate vehicles, and so we need to be part of this conversation about how these processes 

and policies are delivered. 

 

David Kurten AM:  What do you think the unintended consequences of this will be, particularly with the 

expansion of the ULEZ to the North and South Circulars in 2021? 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  We are probably better placed than a lot of van operators to respond to the ULEZ and that is because we 

have a progressive fleet procurement policy.  We buy 1,000 Euro VI vehicles a year.  We will manipulate our 

fleet to make sure that our Euro VI vehicles are in the right place and people will have to accept that we will 

move the negative externality associated further afield - that is the first point around this - because we will just 

reallocate our vehicles wherever we stand. 

 

We look at the ULEZ and think that the real impact will be on the bigger vehicles.  When you are carrying 90 to 

100 parcels, the incremental costs associated with them divided by the quantity is relatively low.  When you are 

running an HGV that is making three big deliveries, you then have to swallow £100 across three customers 

rather than finding £12.50 across a van full of parcels.  The impact of the ULEZ as I see it is probably more on 

either the small operators who do not change vans very quickly because they do not have the capital or the 

purchasing power to do so, or the heavy operators who have older vehicles that can make only three or four 

big deliveries a day. 

 

Page 24



 

  
 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  It is 

particularly small businesses and operators of specialist vehicles that are going to be hit hardest by this, those 

that do not buy vehicles from new or keep their vehicles for long periods of time because they do fairly low 

mileage or may be specially adapted.  That is where the biggest challenges are. 

 

The ULEZ, like clean air zones - and that is the London brand for clean air zones - is not creating a new 

standard.  The standard is there.  It is Euro VI for diesel.  It is accelerating the uptake.  The challenge for 

businesses when they purchase a vehicle is not just how much they buy that vehicle for.  It is how long they 

plan to run it for, the time taken to sweat that asset, and the residual value at the end.  You have businesses 

that have purchased Euro V vehicles way back when and are now having to sell them a lot quicker than they 

were going to and so they have not sweated their asset for as long as they were going to, and of course the 

residual value for Euro V has plummeted and so they are not getting as much for it at the end.  That whole 

business case has caused some real issue for some fleets in particular.  Some are Euro VI and they will be fine 

and it will not affect them at all, but there are going to be some who are going to be very badly affected by 

this. 

 

I understand that the Mayor has announced a van scrappage scheme for microbusinesses.  We need to 

understand more about what that will look like, but it will probably have quite a negligible effect.  It is going to 

be a very small pot of money -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  It is £23 million. 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  It is 

not going to go very far.  The question is: what vehicles will they have to buy?  Will they be able to replace a 

Euro V van with a Euro VI van?  Is that good enough or does it have to be replaced with a zero-emission van?  

If you are replacing it with a zero-emission vehicle, you are talking probably three or four times as much that 

that vehicle will cost.  If you are a microbusiness, it is going to have to be a huge amount of subsidy to make 

the figures stack up.  Those are some of the concerns we have around that. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I have two things.  One is the concern 

about the proliferation of zones.  There are lots of zones in London, and the ULEV in Hackney I know is a 

particular concern.  We will shortly be publishing guidance on zero-emission zones for consultation, probably in 

the spring, to try to enable the boroughs to develop these in a more consistent way, in particular in relation to 

that earlier engagement with the freight industry, the people who are most affected by this in many ways.  We 

are aiming to issue that soon. 

 

However, it is worth adding that ultimately the definition of the zones is a decision for the local highway 

authorities to make.  If Hackney chooses to make its streets entirely zero-emission with very strict standards, 

that is Hackney’s decision.  If we were funding the scheme we would have a say in it, but most of these 

schemes we are not funding and so it is down to the local highway authority. 

 

The other point that was raised was about the van scrappage scheme.  The Mayor announced that in December 

[2018] with £23 million to enable vans to shift to ULEZ-compliant fleets for central London.  We will be 

announcing details of that in the next few days, hopefully.  I will not tell you the details of that because I am 

not allowed to, but it is imminent in terms of that.  It is about recognising the fact that vans are probably the 

sector of vehicles going into central London that has the greatest journey to get to compliance.  It is trying to 

help particularly small and medium enterprises and businesses transition to cleaner fleets. 

 

Page 25



 

  
 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Just adding to Natalie’s point, there is a problem with residual values across vehicles full stop at the 

moment because we are having this problem working out what is going to happen to the older vehicles and 

what the value is going to look like at the end of their life.  People are buying vehicles for four or five years 

and it is a long time at the speed of change we are going through to project what a residual value is going to 

look like.  We are also in the position where we do not know what the residual value of an EV looks like, either. 

 

Building financing models at the moment is very difficult, unfortunately.  Inherently, when you are building a 

return-on-investment model for an EV, you take the upfront cost but you recover that through a lower cost 

per mile, in effect.  Actually, where I would rather deploy EVs is in Cumbria because, in Cumbria, they may be 

able to do 65 miles and, if I can get them to do 64 miles, I maximise my return-on-investment process.  When 

we are talking about London, these vehicles are doing only 5 or 10 miles a day.  They are doing relatively small 

distances.  Without that certainty on the residual at the back end, getting the return-on-investment to hang 

together is quite a difficult process to go through. 

 

We as an organisation have made a proactive change that says we are prepared to swallow some of the 

financial impacts by doing something that we believe in by deploying an all-electric solution, but not 

everybody will have the luxury of doing that. 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  I have a final small point.  The challenge is 

always what problem we are trying to solve.  Is it air quality or congestion or is it both?  We have unintended 

consequences through this.  We would like to see some more carrots rather than sticks as well.  John Lewis has 

shifted to an all-EV fleet.  Can we look at incentives, whether it is at borough level or GLA level, to encourage 

our businesses to flip over, to make that capital investment?  At the moment there is a very heavily regulated 

approach rather than a ‘carrot’ incentive approach. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  All right.  Thank you.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I just wanted to go back to the Vision Zero bit of the questioning.  In particular we are 

seeing a 6% predicted drop in HGVs and I am wondering how much of that is due to the longer lorries that are 

allowed.  Frankly, cycling on a road when one of those very long lorries goes past: they have recently in the last 

couple of years, I think, been allowed on to London streets and I am wondering whether there is any data on 

the difference in the involvement of the extra-long lorries in collisions with pedestrians and cyclists, or whether 

all the data for HGVs is amalgamated together in one lump.  Is it possible to separate that out? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I think it probably is the latter but I 

will check. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Sorry, they are all in one pot? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, exactly, one HGV category, but 

the excellent analysis team works in my area so I will check that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Sorry, could we have that information quite quickly?  We are going to 

be responding very quickly, ahead of -- 

 

Page 26



 

  
 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes.  OK, I will do so. 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  

What I would just add in to that is that the longer semi-trailer charge that we have been talking about is a very 

small number of trailers and this is mostly about trunking.  It is not vehicles that are coming right into urban 

areas.  It is probably quite a small number of vehicles. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Tesco’s had one of them the other day on Holloway Road, Upper Street.  You get the 

very long ones that are delivering for the Post Office.   

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  That 

will not necessarily be the longer semi-trailer ones. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  They are definitely -- 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  

They could be quite long.  They are quite tall. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  They are very tall and they are extra-long as well. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Let’s see if we can get some data on that.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It would be good to have the data. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Yes.  Great, thank you.  Keith. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  A very quick one to Alex, if I may.  Good to see you again, Alex.  How much do you think 

the Mayor is going to make out of the ULEZ from the freight industry? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Central or inner? 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Let us say both. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Over the long term I do not think that 

will be making money because what we are seeking is compliance.  We are seeking cleaner air.  We are seeking 

compliance. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That is the same when you put in a resident parking bay or a parking bay.  You are looking 

for compliance but where you are making your money is on the enforcement.  It must be the same with the 

ULEZ. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Having said that, It is slightly different 

because you are not seeking to change residents’ behaviour in terms of having less vehicles, whereas what we 

are seeking to do is change behaviour in terms of cleaner vehicles.  This is all about encouraging people to shift 

to a cleaner vehicle fleet and if we get to 100% compliance with ULEZ standards, fantastic. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You must have done the numbers, Alex. 

 

Page 27



 

  
 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We have run the numbers and they are 

in our business plan -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  What are the numbers then? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  -- but they are not in my head. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We will have those, again, in a quick turnaround.  We will have those 

provided as well. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That would be great.  OK, let us move on to the next section, getting 

freight into London.  Tom, you are going to lead on that. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you, Caroline.  Yes.  Moving on to the river and rail, the initial question is: what 

opportunities are there to move more freight on to the river and on to rail to get into London and what are the 

barriers to achieving this?  Alex, do you want to kick off? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  River and rail.  There are a lot of 

goods by tonnage that are transported by the river already, particularly materials leaving the city.  There is our 

waste.  There are plenty of waste wharfs that are in active use right in the heart of the city that are really 

important to getting noise off the road.  We forget about it sometimes.  Also, there are a lot of projects that 

are working on getting all their spoil out by the river.  The Northern Line Extension, I was there last week and 

all of the tailing spoil for that went out by the river.  The Battersea Power Station uses the river for some of 

their work.  Thames Tideway Tunnel, I think, are really leading the way on this in terms of their spoil out by the 

river but also some of their materials in by the river.  We need to learn the lessons from that for Silvertown, to 

be honest, to see how they have done it and how they have cracked it with real leadership, making sure that 

we follow that as best we can.   

 

There is a lot happening on the river.  More to do.  The biggest thing to crack - and people have tried - is how 

you get materials in or goods in.  That is more difficult.  It is also more difficult in terms of the safeguarded 

wharves.  The safeguarded wharves are there but they are often locked in land disputes where the people who 

own them would prefer them not to be safeguarded wharves so that they can develop them as residential.  

They are not unlocking them to enable them to be used for their safeguarded purpose.  That is where some of 

these sites are stalled.  We need more to be done there.   

 

The other area I think we often underestimate is what we can do on the canals.  We had a very good 

development in Southall where there was a planning condition to get a lot of materials in by the canal, actually, 

which is very slow but frankly it did not matter for some of these materials coming in to be a bit slower as long 

as you programme it right.  There is a lot to do on the river, a lot more we can do, but there is a practical 

difficulty about getting materials in.  That is where it is a bit of a struggle.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  TfL and the Mayor do not actually have any specific powers over the river, do you?   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  No. 

 

Page 28



 

  
 

Tom Copley AM:  It is the Port of London Authority (PLA).  Is that something that TfL would like or does the 

relationship with the PLA work quite effectively? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I know there was a debate historically 

about PLA being part of the GLA family.  I think there are representatives on the PLA Board, are there not, 

from the GLA?  I have a feeling there are some. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I do not think there are. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  There are not?  OK. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Royal Docks we got but not the PLA, no. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I thought there were nominees from 

the GLA.  Maybe I am wrong on that.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Essex and Kent have blocked us from taking over the PLA. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Did they?  OK.  I will not go there.   

 

More influence?  Yes, potentially.  There is a more joined-up relationship between us and the PLA than there 

has been before, which has been very helpful, particularly in relation to some of our discussions on the big 

projects like Silvertown, like Rotherhithe to Canary Wharf.  There is more engagement with us and them on 

some of the practical details of that.  You are right, our powers are limited in this regard but the planning 

process is where we have the greatest leverage, through the applications that are referred to the Mayor and 

where he can put on conditions about construction management plans and making sure that they get as much 

spoil out by the river as possible, but also us leading by example in things like the River Lea and Silvertown. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  What about rail, sorry? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Rail?  Again, it is easy to lose sight of 

the fact that there is a lot going on.  There is often a feeling that a lot of those goods yards have been 

developed now and all of that rail activity has gone.  That is not necessarily the case.  I went to a fascinating 

facility for a cement works in King’s Cross.  All of that railway land has been developed and it is a fantastic part 

of London now but at the heart of that is a railhead for aggregates to come in for cement for all of the London 

construction sites.  That is bringing in aggregates, big tonnage, by rail, right to the heart of the city centre.  

There are quite a few of those small facilities dotted around London and a lot of those facilities are really 

important to get large numbers of HGVs off the road network.   

 

There is undoubtedly more we can do.  High Speed 2 (HS2) has a big challenge at Euston about how they get 

huge amounts of spoil from that site at Euston onto the rail network.  That is something we want them to 

progress and at the moment I am not seeing the progress that we would like to see there.  The other tension 

with rail is the stuff that uses the Overground network.  There is a tension there between us wanting to 

increase capacity and frequency on the Overground network but then having to work through protected rail 

paths through the heart of the city.  That is an ongoing dialogue between us and the rail industry that will 

continue for a long period of time.  Often it is down to a practical debate about how they can get their rail 

paths through London and we can also increase our frequencies.   

 

Page 29



 

  
 

Tom Copley AM:  A few years ago I had a cab ride in a freight train from Folkestone.  I was living in Kentish 

Town and it dropped me off at Camden Road, which was very convenient.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, I was offered the same. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It was not destined for London, it was going out. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I hope you swiped in and out! 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I think people were quite surprised to see someone get off a freight train.  There is this 

issue - and Natalie [Chapman] touched on it - about upgrading the lines outside of London so that more 

freight can be moved around London if it is not destined for the city.  What progress has been made with the 

DfT in the Government and Network Rail to persuade them to do that? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It is more of a conversation with 

Network Rail to do that.  There is an active dialogue on that.  I do not have all the details.  It is probably best if 

I send you a note on where we are with that.  There is a rail freight lobby that is very passionate, as I am sure 

they were when you were on that train, about protecting those paths, and you can see how they are important 

for that industry getting freight off the road network.  Having said that, I suspect a lot of that freight was not 

London-bound.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  No. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Did it need to come into the heart of 

central London?  Is there a better way of them getting around there?  I think their difficulty is the availability 

of rail infrastructure that could circumnavigate the capital.  That is where they are struggling, really.  But there 

is a debate with the freight industry and it is probably best if I send you a separate note because I am sighted 

on the detail of that.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Can I bring this to our other panellists now?  Natalie, do you want to talk about the river 

and rail? 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  Alex 

has made certainly one of the points I would have made, that there is a lot being done already and there are 

definitely opportunities for more.  It is about safeguarding of wharves and making sure that the wharves that 

are safeguarded are actually available for use.  At the end of the day, any land is going to have a higher value 

for residential and riverside land is always going to be particularly prime land.  Where you have a wharf and you 

are taking lorries off the road and moving it onto the river, overall it reduces the number of lorry movements 

but at that point of course it does increase it, and if you bought a very expensive riverside property, the 

thought that you are right next to a busy wharf with lots of lorries running in and out probably does not sound 

quite so appealing.  That is the real challenge we have.   

 

It is important that we make sure that those sites are safeguarded and that they are put into use where there is 

demand as well.  It is about identifying where the potential is and where the potential is not.  Potential is really 

around aggregates, building products and waste.  That is where we should be aiming.  There may be other 

niche things that happen elsewhere but that is not really going to be where we need to be.  We need to be 

concentrating our efforts on the things where we are going to make the biggest difference.   

 

Page 30



 

  
 

With rail, a lot of the rail that travels around London, as you say, is not destined for London.  It is a challenge 

that we need the gauge clearances that we do not have elsewhere.  We have regular dialogue as well with 

Network Rail on behalf of our rail freight members about track access charges, access to the network.  A lot of 

engineering work still happens overnight when a lot of freight trains want to use it.  It is about making sure 

that rail freight is affordable, reliable.  Generally, it is stuff that is not necessarily so time-sensitive but you still 

need to have reliability that it is going to get there when you expect it to get there.   

 

Generally, the kinds of commodities that you are talking about tend to work best over fairly long distances.  

That does not mean there is no potential to do stuff into London because operating in London with HGVs is 

very expensive as well.  There may be some cases where some of the figures do stack up, but I think it is going 

to be quite a niche element in terms of what we can do for London with rail.  The biggest bang for our buck is 

going to be about making better use of the road network 24/7 and looking at enabling cleaner vehicles, but 

there is no silver bullet in any of this, so if we can do more on the river and we can do more on the rail as well, 

we should certainly be looking at all of those opportunities. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Rob? 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  At our organisation, to be honest, the majority of our HGV movements are outside of hours anyway.  

They are not in the 9.00am to 5.00pm window.  They are coming in from an East Midlands or West Midlands 

hub, departing at 2.30am or 3.00am and coming in here around 6.00am or 7.00am.  We are not moving HGVs 

through the peak rush hour time that you are thinking about. 

 

Rail and river are things which I have looked at, but the problem for an industry like ours is that I am still in the 

East Midlands, sorting the parcels we are going to deliver to your office or your house, at 2.30am this morning.  

To try to ship from a sortation hub to a rail or river facility and then get to London by 7.00am to get the 

parcels which people want on the floor for next-day delivery, it just does not hang together.  I can see that rail 

and river absolutely have their place but Natalie [Chapman] and Alex [Williams] are right: aggregates, 

construction, waste.  It is more suited to those types than perhaps our industry. 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  Very briefly, the West End and Mayfair is 

landlocked so there are no rivers.  We do have the Tyburn River, so maybe we could resurrect that again.  

There was talk of the old Royal Mail train servicing and whether that has legs or not.  That was a couple of 

years ago now.   

 

The Elizabeth line is an opportunity, when it finally arrives and we are not losing £1 billion a year from its 

delay.  We have these huge new stations that are wide, east and west, even Crossrail 2, and are we using those 

stations to click and collect, the delivery and the servicing?  I have not seen much on how these stations are 

going to be used and they are very large.  You look at Tottenham Court Road, having been down there.  Can 

we be better and more efficient?   

 

To your point earlier, Caroline [Pidgeon MBE AM], in terms of home deliveries, I have some figures here from 

TfL: 22% of Londoners received personal deliveries every week and 94% to their homes.  There has been quite 

a shift to home deliveries and that is striking in what we were talking about before as well.  Elizabeth Line, 

good opportunity.   

 

Page 31



 

  
 

Tom Copley AM:  Just moving on to the impact that an expanded Heathrow could have, Heathrow always 

talk about how they have no more cars on the road from it but they never talk about the fact that there is 

going to be this big increase in freight coming in. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  They did by mistake at our Committee meeting, did they not? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  By mistake at our Committee meeting, yes.  What sort of impact do you think that could 

have and how could it be managed?  Who wants to come in on this?  Natalie? 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  

Certainly, the FTA position on Heathrow is that we do support an expanded Heathrow and the simple reason 

for that is that for air freight it works on a hub basis about getting access to destinations.  Heathrow is the UK 

hub.  We are not competing with other UK airports, we are competing with Charles de Gaulle, we are 

competing with Frankfurt and we are competing with Schiphol.  If we do not get the access to those markets 

they will go to those other airports, be put on the back of a truck and shipped through Kent, so Kent will see 

more trucks potentially, although we do not know what is going to happen on that border.  There are going to 

be some challenges there.  We will see in the next few weeks how that pans out.   

 

It is about making sure we have that connectivity.  That is where Heathrow, for us, is hugely important.  There 

are challenges around Heathrow at the moment in terms of vehicle movements and we work very closely with 

the airport on their surface access strategy, on getting cleaner vehicles and more sustainable freight 

movements around Heathrow as well so that we can ensure that any increase in air cargo - because we are 

going to get some access to more markets, which is going to be hugely important to us in a post-Brexit Britain, 

having access to those other markets as well - is handled in the most sustainable way.  The reality is that the 

vast majority of traffic generated by Heathrow is people-related and there is a lot more opportunity, I think, to 

do things with getting passengers to Heathrow in a more sustainable way. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Alex? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  On Heathrow, if expansion is 

approved it will substantially increase the amount of freight traffic to and from the airport.  We are in 

discussions with the airport as they prepare their Development Consent Order (DCO) and that is one of the 

issues that we are talking to them about, the scale of the increase and how that is managed.  As 

Natalie [Chapman] rightly says, one of the biggest challenges for the airport is how they have a credible 

surface access strategy that has the public transport capacity and connectivity to enable people to get to the 

airport by public transport.  At the moment, they are woefully short of what they need in terms of -- 

 

Tom Copley AM:  They are either denying it or just trying not to talk about it. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  To be fair to them, they are engaging 

with us on it at the moment.  There is a lot of work to crunch all the numbers but at the moment we do not 

think there is a credible surface transport access strategy that will enable that airport to be expanded without a 

substantial increase in car traffic to the airport.  The MTS targets assume a substantial increase in road traffic 

to the airport, circa 50,000 to 60,000 vehicles a day, and then you put freight on top of that.  That is the scale 

of increase on roads that we know are already heavily congested.  There is a credibility gap between what they 

want to achieve and what is actually being funded at the moment.  That is a debate that will run and run.   

 

Page 32



 

  
 

Tom Copley AM:  Any other comments on Heathrow?  We are talking about the expansion of Heathrow but I 

am sure Members at the table know about the proposal for Manston Airport.  Natalie and Alex, could you 

comment on that at all? 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  In 

terms of freight, there are certainly some people around Manston that would like to see freight return to 

Manston.  It just does not lend itself.  The way in which the freight industry operates, the hub aspect; if you 

look around Heathrow, particularly around the M4 corridor, and you look at the high-tech industries that have 

built up around there, it is because they have that hub and that access to markets.  They are not going to get 

that from Manston.  Manston more recently has been used as basically a filler stop to head to Schiphol.   

 

For freight, we are talking about not huge volumes in the scheme of things but stuff that is very high-value 

and time-sensitive.  It could be pharmaceuticals, it could be widgets in part of a bigger process.  Heathrow 

lends itself to that because if we get the right capacity there, what we will then do is be able to get the direct 

access to those other markets rather than having to be stopping off elsewhere.  We are effectively going to 

lose our competitiveness if we do not get that at Heathrow.   

 

There really is not the infrastructure down in Manston.  We currently have it on standby in case we need it in a 

few weeks’ time, seeing what happens cross-Channel.  The roads around there are not really suited, the 

infrastructure is not there and we just do not have the access to the markets that we want to see.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Alex, has TfL considered -- 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  No, we have not looked at that in 

detail.  We are fully engaged with Heathrow at the moment, with the DCO.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Steve wanted to come in on Manston. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  To perhaps complete the set of airports, Gatwick.  I do not think this Committee can 

speak with one voice but there is a strong -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We do on Heathrow speak with one voice. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Yes, we do on Heathrow but we do not speak with one voice on Gatwick.  I think there 

is more support for Gatwick expansion.  I certainly support it.  Would you like to comment particularly on the 

benefits of a Gatwick expansion, whether it is their existing expansion or additional runways?   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  For freight. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  We hope there will be some expansion around Gatwick and it is more likely.  Would the 

freight industry like to comment around the potential advantages of a Gatwick expansion and the effects 

thereof for freight? 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  It is 

still about having the hub airport.  Heathrow is our main hub.  There may be still demand in terms of 

passengers for Gatwick and there is cargo, obviously, that goes through Gatwick, but if you look at the freight 

industry the majority of freight is carried in the belly hold of passenger planes.  There are dedicated freighters 

as well but the majority is carried in the belly hold of passenger planes, the vast majority of which go through 

Page 33



 

  
 

Heathrow.  That is because they have the access to markets.  It is also partly what makes those routes viable 

for passengers as well.  Certainly when I sit there back in economy - I am sadly not paid enough to travel in 

more luxurious ways - apart from the low-cost airlines that are set up that way, I am not making that viable.  It 

is the business and first-class passengers and what is going underneath in terms of the cargo that make that 

route viable. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I get that.  So where is the argument for Heathrow, not Gatwick, then?  Just remind 

me of the point you are trying to make. 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  

Because the industry is set up around Heathrow and airlines will want that one base to run their fleets out of to 

have access to those direct markets.  We can certainly provide the Committee with some more details around 

that.  I have colleagues who are far more specialised in this area, if you wanted technicals. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That technical area of how freight works around Heathrow would be 

useful. 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  

Happy to help with that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  OK.  Thank you. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  This is the very last point, about the schemes like LoCITY to reduce the impact of 

commercial vehicles on the environment and, Alex, the work that TfL is doing on that.  Maybe just explain 

what LoCITY is and -- 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We have quite a lot of initiatives with 

the freight industry.  LoCITY is about working with the willing in the freight industry to get them to transition 

to cleaner and safer vehicles.  It is a great network.  There was a meeting yesterday, I think, of operators there.  

It is about people leading by example, really, so that you get to see the five-star vehicles from a DVS 

perspective at their events.  Natalie [Chapman] and I have spoken at that and you have probably spoken as 

well.  It is a fantastic network.  That is one of those things that we need to do more of and encourage, sharing 

the best practice across the city.  It is a great network.   

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Can I just add to that, Tom [Copley AM]?  About 18 months ago, that was where we came into this kind 

of world, to be brutally honest with you.  The first meeting I went to was one of the LoCITY meetings and that 

really untied our business and kickstarted it.  It has been really good programme for TfL.  The challenge TfL 

now have is: how do you keep operators like ourselves, who have been involved in the process for 18 months 

or two years?  We have a very different set of requirements to where I was two years ago and we are talking 

about a whole different thing.  The challenge TfL now has is how they set that programme up as it matures 

going forward.   

 

I would like to say though that that was my entry point into this entire world and it has been a valuable 

resource.  It is also a valuable way for operators to talk to TfL.  TfL in its own way can be difficult or easy 

depending on who you get and what day you get them on, but it is a good entry point -- 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That is what we find as well. 

Page 34



 

  
 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  It is a good entry point into engaging with TfL as well. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Great.  Natalie, do you want to come in on LoCITY?   

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  

Certainly.  The FTA has been involved in LoCITY since the outset and I think that is absolutely the way forward.  

We need to be finding ways to enable and inform the businesses that can, rather than hitting over the head the 

businesses that are going to find it much more difficult to transition.  The technology and everything will start 

to trickle down.  Programmes like LoCITY are really helpful and valuable in carrying out trials, sharing 

information and working out what technology works in what circumstances as well.  There is a group for vans 

and there is a group for HGVs.  It is understanding what works where.   

 

Absolutely the thought leadership part of that is really, really helpful for the industry.  As Rob has said, we 

have companies that have come in and are now implementing stuff that they have learnt through that LoCITY 

approach.  It is now how you continue it, how you bring more companies in and support businesses to 

transition because ultimately that is what they need.  They need that support, not just the financial support 

but the regulatory support, creating that right environment.  I had the example - it is beyond the powers, 

necessarily, of TfL - of the challenges with the DVLA about registering vehicles.  We are trying to encourage 

businesses here.  We should not be having red tape in the way, having to fill out forms in triplicate, you can 

only order six forms at a time and if you get something wrong you have to order another, in the post.  We 

should be doing this all online.  There are things like that that we need to be working on in the next stage.   

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Yes.  When we talk about EV supply I think we will talk about some of difficulties we have had as an 

organisation getting EVs on fleet.  Just to touch on LoCITY, one of the key points for it going forward is that it 

needs to engage with some of the boroughs.  You have a group of people who in the room who are engaged 

with EV deployment and the Clean Air Strategy that people are trying to deliver.  Boroughs have a great 

opportunity to come and talk to people who are leading this sort of process.  Come and talk to us.  The 

Hackney scheme should have come in front of that and I think they did at some point.  It is a great opportunity 

for boroughs to come and talk to people who can say, “That is practical and that is not practical” in an arena 

like this, where there is a nice opportunity to sit and talk about things.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Jace? 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  I was out of the room but I think the question 

was around lower vehicle emissions.  We have done some work in Bond Street that I think this [London 

Assembly Transport] Committee has looked at before.  It was started a couple of years ago.  It was a pilot, 

really - we had 100 different owners and 200 different businesses - on how we could really work smart on the 

street to help reduce congestion and also improve air quality.  Dan Johnson [Director of Placemaking, New 

West End Company], my colleague, led all that.  It was very good from our perspective.  For some highlights of 

results, we reduced daily waste vehicle collections from 144 down to just nine companies, we got kerbside 

vehicle stops down by 17% within two years and we removed almost 70% of waste bags from the footway.  

Again, congestion.  That is one very small example on one street in the West End. 

 

The challenge for us is that we want to roll this out across the West End and across the Central Activities Zone 

(CAZ).  It goes back to an earlier point Natalie [Chapman] made on this leadership and this approach which is 

Page 35



 

  
 

across boroughs, is strategic for the city.  Business is willing and it is not just about money, it is also about 

incentivising good practice and, again, thought leadership, advice and guidance to really move them at pace.  

They are retailers, they want to do their job and sell, and yet they have lots of regulation coming down the line 

they have to respond to.  They want to do a good job for their customers, and obviously Oxford Street is the 

worst polluted street in Europe.  We have to do more to move this quite rapidly. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Besides Heathrow expansion, which we have talked about, there is a major development 

expansion planned at Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation (OPDC) which will see a major amount 

of construction activity, to say the least.  We have boat canal as well as existing rail connections.  Is there a 

clear strategy by TfL in terms of freight traffic and movement for decades to come? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  You are right.  That area, if it takes 

off, is going to be a construction site for decades.  The first major infrastructure construction project there is 

going to be HS2.  I cannot remember the details of it but I am fairly sure that the spoil that they are going to 

be excavating from the HS2 station at Old Oak is by rail.  That spoil will be taken away through rail.  The 

construction management for the rest of the developments there is something that we would need to talk 

through with the OPDC but I am sure they are aware of it and they would want to look at construction 

consolidation so that the different construction projects can work together to procure things at the same time 

and get greater efficiencies of delivery.  We have done that in Nine Elms, the Northern Line work, the Thames 

Tideway and the Battersea Power Station, making sure there were efficiencies there.  Old Oak has exactly the 

same opportunity. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  This is something, Chair, that does need to be looked into as part of the local plan or the 

strategy because already some works are underway and there are obviously local concerns with the residents in 

terms of the transfer of spoils, construction materials and so on through roads, etc.  That is where I think it is 

important, looking at what we are discussing, that for major projects like that there is a clear strategy for the 

transfer of all the goods and everything through other means than just roads.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes.  I think it is a relatively similar 

issue, where it is relatively easy to get spoil out by rail.  The other challenge is getting stuff in by rail.  I will 

take that and find out where we are with HS2 on that. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  If you can take it up, yes, please.  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Very good.  Thank you.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I just wanted to clarify that the [London] Assembly has recently put out a report 

opposing any aviation expansion in London on the basis of the noise, particularly from concentrated flight 

paths.  That was a cross-party agreed report of the [London] Assembly.   

 

Moving on to the final mile -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I am sure I dissented to that. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It was not your Committee, it was the [London Assembly] Environment Committee. 

 

Page 36



 

  
 

Steve O’Connell AM:  It just sounded like you were speaking for the [London] Assembly. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  No, I am sorry, I was speaking for the [London Assembly] Environment Committee as 

the Environment Chair -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Thanks for clarifying that. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  -- and it was a cross-party agreed report. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes.  All parties signed up to that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Was it really?  Indeed.  I am sure it was. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  The final mile.  Starting with you, Alex, what progress has TfL made on reducing the 

number of lorries and vans entering central London in the morning peak and is TfL on target to reach the 10% 

reduction by 2026? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  If we look at that final point, “Are we 

on target?”, the plan will set out where we are now.  I think the baseline is circa 20,000 vehicle movements in 

the peak and we need a 10% reduction of that by 2026.  If you look at the linear trajectory of that, we are just 

below.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Just below meeting it, do you mean? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Just ahead of the target. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Excellent, yes. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We all know it is a bit like the 80% 

mode share, it is not going to be a straight line and it will ebb and flow with changes in the wider economic 

position.  As big construction hots up, potentially it will go above that.  At the moment we are OK but one of 

the things we need to focus our efforts on is this issue about the last mile, as well as the issue about retiming 

and issues about consolidation.  The Action Plan will look at those issues in a bit more depth. 

 

The other thing I would say is that we will track progress against that target every year through the Travel in 

London report.  As it is an MTS target, that document will be published every November/December.  We will 

publicly set out how we are doing and, if we are not on target, what more we are going to do. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Earlier, Natalie [Chapman] raised the issue of night-time lorry movements.  Is that 

something that you have looked at adjusting, particularly as there are more things that can be done now 

around noise, which I think is why the original night ban came in? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It was never a ban. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  OK.  Night restriction, sorry. 

 

Page 37



 

  
 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The London Lorry Control Scheme is 

often referred to as a ban, and people who know it know that it is not a ban.  I do think Natalie is right to 

highlight the review that London Councils are doing because the circumstances for the original scheme in 1985 

are very different now.  Technology has moved on and certainly the Olympics was a good example where the 

quieter deliveries and quieter technology meant that you could do a lot more deliveries out of hours, 

overnight, not necessarily in the middle of the night but later in the evening or early in the morning.  People 

were fine with it, really.  That is a debate that we need to have with London Councils to get them to loosen the 

reins a bit on this, really, to realise that technology has moved on and that you can have more people 

delivering later in the evening or earlier in the morning without the negative effects that people feel.   

 

I personally think, having worked on the [Olympic] Games and that retiming debate, that there was a lot of 

play made on the regulation stopping it when actually, when you spoke to a lot of businesses, one of the 

factors that stopped people doing it was having a recipient in the building to collect the goods because they 

have to pay for them to be there at 6.00am or 9.00pm or something like that.  The regulation is an issue but it 

is not a panacea.  If you got rid of the London Lorry Control Scheme I do not think you would have a huge 

surge of overnight deliveries because people do not -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Although on the night-time economy we have just had data published that shows that 

a third of Londoners work at night.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, 6.00pm to 6.00am. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  You would have thought then that there might be potential there that would be worth 

looking at. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Certainly I agree with that, absolutely.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  We have looked at and discussed quite a bit already the impact of reducing personal 

deliveries to offices but I wonder, has TfL done any modelling on the effects of businesses preventing people 

from having personal deliveries -- 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  No.  I referred to it earlier; one of the 

things we need to do is a survey of our own staff to find out what they did because, as I said, they did not stop 

shopping.  They carried on shopping and we need to understand how their needs are met.  I suspect that more 

was done in the evening and at the weekend in terms of those deliveries to their home addresses. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  When you say you need to survey TfL staff --  

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We are doing that. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Are you doing it?  Do you have a date when you are expecting -- 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I am afraid I do not but I can get that 

to you. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  If you could, that would be very helpful.  Thank you.  A further question for you is: I 

gather TfL, giving evidence to the National Infrastructure Commission, said that you are looking at 

international best practice, things like Hamburg, where they deliver on foot for the last mile, or Singapore, 

Page 38



 

  
 

where they have a limited number of permits for vehicles into the central activity zone.  Are there any specific 

examples beyond those that you are looking at internationally? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes.  We have also looked at the 

examples in Paris, where they have a lot of city centre consolidation activity.  What you find with a lot of those 

international comparisons is that there is a substantial public sector investment and I think we need to be 

realistic that that may not be available in the UK in the current state.  The other, more productive discussion 

we need to have is to look at how we use our land more efficiently and prioritise its availability for B8 users and 

freight.  The Caxton Street example with DPD is a fantastic example.  The issue is that I think we need to do a 

lot more of it.  There is a lot of land out there that is underused that could be used for more productive uses.  

There are these unused carparks that we talked about earlier.  In council blocks or in retail areas there are 

plenty of small parcels of land that companies like DPD could take advantage of. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That presumably also would help with the problems with curb space and the fight for 

curb space. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Certainly when we did the Committee visit to the Quietways we were cycling and there 

was the problem of delivery vehicles making Quietways unsuitable for nervous cyclists.  If you are using TfL 

land, presumably, then -- 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  But also you are using much smaller 

vehicles, are you not?  The Paxters are -- 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Yes.  We have put a vehicle out which has about one cubic metre of load space, as you know, which is 

much smaller than any other vehicle.  We are the first organisation in the UK to import these.  As 

Natalie [Chapman] touched on, the registration process with DVLA was phenomenally difficult to the point 

where we got to a couple of weeks before opening and we did not have any that were road legal, which - 

bearing in mind they were already operating in Norway - seems ridiculous.   

 

That is something that needs to be picked up because there seems to be a surge of smaller organisations 

developing vehicles.  If you went back maybe ten or 15 years, your vehicle choices were from the major original 

equipment manufacturers, and I seem to be contacted by a much higher number of people from small 

organisations who are bringing these vehicles forward.  Their processes to get them registered are going to be 

phenomenally difficult.  The processes to go through to get them roadworthy are one thing, but just to get 

DVLA and the Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency to understand what these vehicles are, to be honest with 

you, was an awful process.  As Natalie said, you can order a pack of forms.  They send you nine forms at a 

time.  We had ten vehicles in our first batch so we had to have 18 sets of triple carbon forms sent out to us.  It 

is just not good enough as it currently stands.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Not fit for purpose. 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Not fit for purpose, absolutely. 

 

Page 39



 

  
 

Caroline Russell AM:  There is this surge in small EVs which means fewer vans on the streets, which is a help 

for making places like Oxford Street and presumably West End places less van-filled in terms of deliveries.  

What about bikes?  Do people have experience of your kind of business model, where you have your electric 

vans taking stuff out or little minivans taking stuff out -- presumably there could be a model with bikes. 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  The enabler is property.  The key point of that is I cannot ask somebody to get onto a small vehicle, a 

micro-vehicle which is designed for tight city centre spaces, and drive down the A13 from Dagenham.  That is 

just not practical.  The benefit that the small location gives us in the sort of area where Jace [Tyrell] is involved 

is that you can return to base.  Now, if they are delivering into your area and they are based in Dagenham you 

will not send a small vehicle out that will then have to return in the middle of the day and take two hours out 

of your day to get back.   

 

The location enables that switch.  Whether that is a micro-vehicle, a cargo bike or a foot solution, the property 

has to facilitate that.  That is the driver of this.  There is definitely a shift towards smaller vehicles coming in 

and B to C traffic, generally speaking, is smaller - the volume is smaller, sorry - in terms of parcel size.  That is 

moving towards a smaller vehicle solution but you need that property to unlock those opportunities to do it 

and we need to unlock those properties to make that viable.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That presumably could be local authorities with garages under estates that are not 

used -- 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Absolutely. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  -- or City of London carparks or any public carparks. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Railway arches. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  And railway arches. 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  We have some examples.  I see our European group in effect, so all the DPD European units come 

together twice a year to discuss this.  They have taken all sorts of different spaces to make these types of 

solutions viable but, going back to my earlier comment, you need the landlords and owners to understand that 

you are looking for something that they do not know you are looking for.   

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  It 

needs also the longevity of the lease as well, because if you are going to make the kind of investment that 

DPD has made in charging infrastructure and everything, it cannot just be, “We will be infill for a couple of 

years before you sell it off to someone far more lucrative”.  You need that security of tenure, which is the other 

important element. 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Absolutely.  Westminster, in effect, was a £3 million commitment over ten years.  That was just in capital 

cost, rent and lease before I put any management and headcount cost into that process, so it is a significant 

investment.  When you start to think about infrastructure as well, the electrical supply to the building is 100 

amp.  The 7.5-tonne vehicles that we are trunking in, of which we have two - there are only ten in the UK and 

Page 40



 

  
 

we have two of them - charge at 32 amp.  I am reaching a point where I can only charge to a certain point.  

The size of the building against the operational capacity against the electrical infrastructure all needs to be 

balanced because if you are offered a lease for two years and it is £1 million in the road outside to put a bigger 

cable in, which is not yours and you are going to have to depreciate over two years, that is very difficult 

financially to put together.  There is a conversation coming, as I see it - the EV Taskforce has started this and I 

understand that - about how we absorb this cost between the landlords, between the local authorities, 

between the people who want this EV deployment and operators like ourselves.  My gut feeling at the moment 

is everyone is going to ask me to pay for it, and that makes some exercises unsustainable.   

 

Just to go back to your original question, the property unlocks the cargo bike, micro-vehicle, small vehicle 

solution, but the property also has to have certain parameters that will allow you to turn it into a facility that 

you need it to be. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  If you want to use EVs rather than cargo bikes or people on foot? 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Yes.  Even cargo bikes require charging to a certain point.  It is only a much lower-rated charge. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  They can use normal electricity, rather than needing extra power? 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  They can use a normal electricity supply, yes, but you still need to balance that, if you are under a big 

residential building, against the needs of a resident and other occupiers as well.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Jace, you look like you want to jump in. 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  Long-term landlords of great estates really 

understand.  They are here for hundreds of years, so they are looking at their property portfolios.  It would be 

interesting to know how many car parks are not being used in the CAZ because it is such an inefficient use of 

space.  Park Lane, direct link out, 100,000 square feet there.  It is basically empty, so it is not even generating 

revenue.  This is a really good example where you can consolidate.   

 

It needs to go back to the planning policy.  There need to be more incentives and new developments coming 

through to really incentivise this, and you have to make it long-term.  It cannot be two- or three-year leases.  

You need to look at 25 years as well.  The property industry has to play something here.   

 

On Strategic Industrial Locations (SIL), I read a report this morning.  We have collected £3.5 billion in London 

in SIL in three or four years.  SIL is about infrastructure.  If it is pan-London, it is across boroughs, it is CAZ, 

why can’t we use some of that capital investment to build some of these consolidated centres, and the 

boroughs could pool that SIL together to have some solutions around this?  This might be a smarter way that 

we could look at SIL in the future.  Not housing SIL; this is purely on infrastructure. 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Just to pick up on that, Jace, in planning policy, we are definitely seeing at the moment schemes coming 

forward that are now mixed-stage.  A good example is the Travis Perkins Depot, which has student 

accommodation over the top.  As far as a mixed-use scheme goes, that is one of the best examples that I have 

seen.   

 

Page 41



 

  
 

One of the challenges is that we are not finding these until they reach the planning stage, and what is 

happening is you are taking a residential architect who designs a lovely tower block, and then they are asking 

them to design some logistics space underneath.  They simply are just not designing something that is fit for 

purpose, and it is becoming a gesture in the planning process.  What they need to do is to hook in with either a 

suitable architecture team or some early operators or some operators who are prepared to contribute to that 

thought process, basically.  There is no point producing a scheme that nobody wants at the end, unfortunately, 

and that is something that we are seeing where we are being sent schemes that are already coming up for 

determination and we are saying, “You cannot make that work in its current form”. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  We have come up with lots of good ideas for my final question, which is: what more 

could the Mayor and TfL do to help businesses and freight distributors to improve their practices?  We have 

heard about land, access to land, making sure that the planning process is fit for purpose.  Whether we should 

be writing to the Examination in Public (EIP) for the London Plan in terms of freight logistics is just something 

that occurs.  Do you have anything else that TfL could be doing that is not happening at the moment that 

could be helpful?  Jace? 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  There are 50 BIDs in London now.  At the sharp 

end, they are on the ground, dealing with occupiers every single day, so there are some really good examples 

of very small and very good pilots happening.   

 

To the earlier point, we need a strategic approach to this.  The BIDs work on very small revenue.  We are 

fortunate in West End and Mayfair, £10 million a year, but a lot of the BIDs are operating on £500,000, very 

marginal amounts of income.  We would encourage TfL to put some funding behind this, and it does not have 

to be financial.  It could be resources as well, to give the experts, to help them and have a CAZ approach 

particularly, because we see a lot of pressure on the CAZ.  That is something very practical I think the BIDs and 

the business groups can really benefit from in the short to medium term to help get more of these programmes 

off the ground.  To have the desired effect, we want the capital.   

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  There are the trials that we are seeing coming through as well.  It is great that people are thinking about 

things differently, but we have to understand that there is a very significant challenge between somebody 

doing a trial from a small operator to scaling it to very large operational approaches.  My concern at the 

moment is some of the trials that you are seeing are clever and they are achieving something, but is that a 

viable solution that can be scaled?  That is something that probably needs to be factored into that thought 

process.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Following on from Jace’s [Tyrell] point 

about the BIDs, I would agree with him wholeheartedly because the BIDs are very close to the business 

communities, as you would expect, and have a much greater understanding about their needs and their 

pressures than we do.  We are really keen to work with the BIDs across London, and there is an event next 

week where we are talking about the Freight and Servicing Action Plan and about how we can work with them 

more effectively.  To be honest, they are doing a lot of really good stuff already.  It is really how we can help 

them do more. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.  Anything? 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  No.  

I think quite a lot of points have already been made.  It is about the enablement.  As I said earlier, the industry 

Page 42



 

  
 

works on very tight margins, so we aim to be as efficient as we possibly can.  It is about identifying the barriers 

to efficiency.  It is not necessarily just by adding new and additional regulation.  It is about enabling those that 

can and those that are willing to, creating that right regulatory environment.   

 

Coming back to that leadership point, one of the challenges we have with the boroughs - because a lot of this 

stuff needs to be delivered at a very local level - is the boroughs do not have that expertise and knowledge.  

The only authority I am aware of that has a dedicated freight officer is the City of London [Corporation] 

because it has that resource, and the others do not.  I am not kicking the boroughs on that; they have limited 

resource, and freight for them probably carries over a number of different roles and responsibilities but it does 

not fall on one person.  They do not necessarily have that expertise.  I think there is a role here for the Mayor 

and for TfL to help support the boroughs to make sure that they do have that knowledge, because never let 

the lack of knowledge get in the way of having a good opinion on something or implementing bad policy.   

 

We need to make sure that if we are going to have policies that are implemented, they are achieving what we 

want them to achieve, that they do not create unintended consequences, that they do not add additional costs 

particularly to small businesses and push them out.  That is one of the risks sometimes with some very blunt 

tools.  Some of the bigger companies can perhaps absorb some of those costs, although it is still a challenge 

for them, but some of the smaller businesses find it more difficult to adapt.  We need to protect and support 

London’s small businesses as well because they really underpin what we do and what makes our city 

interesting.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you very much.  Let us move on to our next section: making 

space for freight in London.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  A lot of these points have already been covered.  In the interests of time, some of them 

we might skip over.   

 

Like I say, making space for freight in London.  In relation to logistics and distribution sites, what does the 

freight industry need in order to deliver efficiently in the capital? 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  

Perhaps I can come in there.  Obviously this question is very timely because the draft London Plan is going 

through its EIP.  We were really pleased to see a lot of recognition about the importance of logistics and 

industrial land in London.  If London’s population is growing, we need to make sure we have the right land to 

support it, and that is not just building more houses.  As I said earlier, if we are going to encourage people to 

live car-free, we need to support them in that as well.  There are lots of things that the plan does which will be 

helpful, and there are lots of areas where it does not go far enough.  I am happy to share with the Committee 

our detailed responses on those particular areas.   

 

One of the challenges is that industrial and logistics land is lumped together as one, and some of the needs are 

quite different.  For logistics, what we quite often need is just open yard space.  We need spaces for vehicles.  

There is a big focus in the plan about intensification, which may work for some uses but does not always work 

that simply for logistics land as well.   

 

Also let us talk about protecting the land that we already have.  Some limited release.  There are I think three 

boroughs, all in the Thames Gateway, which have been identified for limited release of industrial land, which I 

find quite surprising considering that is where a lot of the growth is happening in London.  I wonder whether 

there are other issues behind it, whether the property that is on the land is the kind of property that logistics 

Page 43



 

  
 

and the industry needs, whether we have the right kinds of warehousing, the right kinds of land, or whether we 

have situations where we have developers that are effectively land-banking.  There may be some of that as 

well.  We would certainly question that limited release, but we think we need to go further, that we probably 

need more land.   

 

Will London deliver the land that industry needs?  Maybe.  The question is where is that going to be?  Is that 

even going to be in London?  Is it going to be pushed out to the home counties?  Then we have the issue that 

we are pushing logistics further and further out, increasing those journey times and ultimately increasing the 

number of the vehicles.  It is about having the right land in the right strategic locations.   

 

One of the challenges, of course, is we look at this on a borough-by-borough basis, but it is about the arterial 

routes.  Where are the key arterial routes heading into London?  Generally, that is where logistics needs to be: 

on or close to those major routes.  Then we need to make sure that we have the right land and the right 

location as well for the micro-consolidation and shift towards EVs as well.   

 

Only about 64% of industrial land in London is protected, so about a third of it is unprotected land and small 

pockets of land now.  That may be difficult to go through that process of protecting every single piece of land, 

but we need to think very carefully because particularly some of these pockets of land in the centre of London, 

those underutilised car parks that we talk about, how long are they going to stay there as underutilised car 

parks?  This is really expensive real estate.  If we do not identify those bits of land now, they will be gone 

forever.  It is really important that we make sure we are dealing with this early and not pushing it into the long 

grass.   

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Just to give you an example, we had a depot located on Camley Way, which is just behind King’s Cross 

Railway Station, which within our organisation was well known as the most productive depot that we had.  

When I say productive, the drivers achieved most deliveries a day from that location.  We lost that.  It was 

about 1.5 acres.  That was sold for in excess of £35 million.  The logistics industry just cannot compete at that 

price point, and there is some research from Savills circulating that I have scribbled down: vacancy rates are less 

than 4%, and in certain boroughs in the last ten years there has been a rent increase on a per-square-foot 

basis in excess of 90%.  There definitely is a squeeze on supply, and that is significantly affecting the price.  

You are pricing operators out of these city centre locations.   

 

If you think about the King’s Cross example, the nearest location we could find that was viable was for Park 

Royal Depot.  We have two depots in Park Royal less than 250 yards from each other.  One drives all the way 

into King’s Cross, and one delivers to the local area.  Operationally, that just makes no sense in any shape or 

form.  It just does not stack up.  What it creates is challenges.  When you talk about the small vehicles, you 

cannot go back from King’s Cross to Park Royal.  The evening vehicles, we do not have a 3.5-tonne.  We only 

have a small vehicle really that you can start to get on a decent supply.  You cannot run them from those 

locations.  These challenges are as a result of the impact on B8 land, and that is making it a real problem.   

 

Natalie [Chapman] is absolutely right when we talk about the smaller pockets of space, but the industry on the 

whole, it feels, is getting cleaner.  In Westminster we are managing to co-exist with local residents.  The impact 

of logistics is declining as the cleaner and quieter vehicles come in, and we can perhaps co-exist better with 

residents as it currently stands.   

 

Just quickly on intensification, intensification goes back to my earlier comment about getting the right person 

to design the intensification scheme.  Intensification is a solution that works, and we know that there are 

Page 44



 

  
 

multi-level schemes coming forward and we know there are different solutions coming forward.  They are all a 

long way from the city centre, but you need these to be designed properly, you really do.  It may have to come 

through the planning process.  The planners have to think more about these spaces and not just write “B8” on 

an empty space at the bottom of a building.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Do you have any examples of a good intensified space that exists? 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  There is one good example within our group, and it has been phenomenally difficult to produce.  There 

is a facility in Bordeaux that is operated on a co-existing basis between two of the DPD brand companies, 

Chronopost and DPD France, where they have chosen to share welfare facilities, crew spaces and kitchen 

spaces.  They effectively have a third of a warehouse each, and the final third operates for different parts of 

the business at different times.  It has been easier to implement because it is our own company brands, as you 

can imagine.  I do not believe that I have seen a solution where you have found multiple operators working 

from the same building within the same industry. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Do you think that is the way forward?  Do you think that could make an impact? 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  I think you have to think about operational resilience in these types of processes.  It is always good 

saying, “I can give half of my warehouse away at 10 o’clock”, but what happens when you have an operational 

problem?  What happens when the A13 is closed and I cannot get my vehicles into it?  You have to find a very 

select partner that you can co-exist with, and they have to be willing to do that.  My observation of the way 

that the industry is moving is that some people are quite keen to enter into these types of discussions, and 

some people are burying their head in the sand and are ignoring it.  It is about getting the right people to talk 

to each other. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Interesting.  Does anybody else want to add something before I move on? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  If I can just give you a figure, between 

2001and 2015 London lost 1,300 hectares of industrial land.  It is a massive shift away from industrial -- 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  These things are all lumped together.  We have just made a distinction between industrial 

and logistics.  We really here are speaking about logistics, not industrial land.  There will be reasons for that 

loss.  Do you have a separate figure for logistics land? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Not while we are here, no.  To me, 

that emphasises why the London Plan has changed, to get greater protection there.  I would echo 

Rob’s [Fowler] point that I think we are in our infancy in terms of understanding how logistics and residential 

land can co-exist.  One good example is in St Pancras Way, but there is a lot more that needs to be done on 

this. 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  If we look at real estate and the roof values, 

drones are not that far away.  If you look at Tokyo Olympics, they are using drone taxis to get people around 

the Olympics in Japan.  If we talk about the next decade, the roof values are going to become very valuable for 

business and logistics and deliveries.  There is a big piece around how we use drones, particularly with the 

airport issue.   

 

Page 45



 

  
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is our next section, Jace.  We will grill you on that in a minute.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  What progress has been made on the network of construction consolidated centres, 

developing networks for micro-distribution centres as well?  I suppose that is primarily to Alex. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, thank you.  There is a lot of work 

on consolidation.  There is a lot of work through the BIDs, and Jace [Tyrell] has referred to that, through the 

Bond Street project, which is really good, where you have a single landowner who can help drive the change in 

behaviour.  There are other examples of that around London where it is easy to do that.  Through the planning 

process, there is a lot of work on consolidation to make sure that is built into new consent so that very large 

tower being built over the river, 22 Bishopsgate, has a consolidation centre as part of that consent.  They will 

get one or two deliveries a day for their entire needs for that entire building, and every tenant is required to 

buy into that consolidation centre that will not be in the city further away.   

 

There is a lot of work on construction consolidation, particularly where you have a lot of development activity 

happening at the same time.  Nine Elms is a good example.  The [London] Olympics [2012] was a great 

example.  King’s Cross has elements of that as well.  Old Oak, I think we need to do more of it, really.  I think it 

works where you have a lot of development activity together.  At 22 Bishopsgate, I am sure the developments 

around there are linking together on that.  It works when there is a lot of construction in the same area.  It is 

more difficult when it is a bit more disparate.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That makes sense.  Navin’s [Shah AM] point earlier on about the canal and the rail: the 

canal goes all over the place in London.  Is it being actively looked at?  Are people trying to make it happen?  

Is it part of the planning?  How much of the culture is it to drill down on how you are going to consolidate 

these things going forward?  Does it only happen, I am asking, when it is simple, like you have said, when there 

is a lot of activity going on and you are right on top of the river? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  When there is a very large 

development that fronts a canal, you would obviously look at it.  The best example of that I have is the 

Berkeley Homes development in Southall, where there was a planning condition put on that site, the British 

Gas site, where they would use the canal for spoil out and some of the materials in.  It clearly only lends itself 

to materials that are not time-critical, where you have more time to get them in.  It is only going to be of 

limited values, but certainly we look at it where it is directly relevant.  We will be looking at it for Old Oak as 

well, where you have some of the sites, like the Cargiant site, that straddles the canal.  Obviously you are going 

to be looking at whether you can do it there.  We just need to be realistic that it is not going to be a panacea.  

It is going to be something we can look at and see if we can use it, but it is not going to be huge volumes. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  OK.   

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  I 

think Alex is right.  On construction, it is about getting the volumes.  If we are talking more generally about 

consolidation centres, they can in certain circumstances help reduce the number of lorry and van movements, 

but it is in very select circumstances where that works.  What we need to make sure is that we have the right 

solution for the right location.  At 22 Bishopsgate over in the City of London, they are introducing a 

consolidation centre because they will not have the physical space for the number of vehicle movements that 

they would need to accommodate if everything came to them individually.  It is a ‘needs must’.  Then the 

question comes: who pays for it?  They are putting it into a new building, so of course the tenants are going to 

be paying for it so they can make that happen.  Trying to put something retrospectively in, generally, quite 

Page 46



 

  
 

often starts off with public funding.  What we have found in the past is that when the public funding is being 

removed it all falls apart because you cannot get the figures to stack up. 

 

You also need to look at what it is that you are consolidating, so what goods can and what goods cannot.  

What you do not want to be doing necessarily is taking out fully consolidated loans.  A lot of retail is very well 

consolidated already, so what you do not want to be doing is splitting it into many smaller vehicles.  A large 

HGV will carry the equivalent of 25 vans.  A medium-sized one will carry the equivalent of ten vans.  Even if 

there is zero tailpipe emission, they could still be adding to congestion.  We need to make sure it is the right 

solution in the right location.   

 

We get very excited about consolidation centres.  They are generally warehouses or sheds.  They do not look 

quite as exciting as they probably sound.  That is what we already do in our industry.  There is a lot of 

consolidation that does already happen in that way.  We just need to be thinking about what is going to work 

in the right locations and what the trick is.  If in a location - say 22 Bishopsgate - they are going to be 

mandating it through the tenants, the tenants will be paying for it, but if you are putting it retrospectively, it is 

a local authority willing to provide ongoing funding.   

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  The City and the West End is highly congested, 

and finding these sites is very challenging.  Obviously there is a huge demand there.  The rents have gone up.  

If you look at all the Financial Times Stock Exchange 100 logistics companies, there is massive, massive 

demand.  The question is, looking at the public authority land, whether it is TfL or the Metropolitan Police 

Service and others, if there is such a high demand there -- I know housing is very important to this city, but 

actually in the centre, in the City and the West End, is housing appropriate in all of those areas?  Can we use 

some of these public sector sites to build some consolidation centres where there is a demand as well?  It is 

something to think about in the future. 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  That is absolutely right.  On a sector-by-sector basis, consolidation has its potential, and my gut reaction 

is that it is sectors where products are more homogenous with one another.  Aggregate freight is aggregate 

freight, is it not, to a certain extent?   

 

For the people that I speak to, which are similar operators to myself, there is a lot of concern about 

consolidation.  You have talked about the MTS.  I am not sure how well people really understand it.  We do 

have some experience.  The [London] Olympics [2012], unfortunately, for an organisation like mine, was 

painful, to be honest with you.  It was very difficult.  We lost a lot of our data streams.  We lost a lot of our 

USP as a business, which is around engaging people through technology, through your app.  We lost all of that 

type of visibility of these parcels when they went into the consolidation process, so there are some concerns 

about it. 

 

The concern, though, lies in mandated geographical consolidation.  For us, I cannot see a world where you 

create a monopoly that is a better solution than a competitive marketplace.  Unfortunately, my background is 

in economics, so you can imagine my views.  Ultimately, the key thing about the parcel industry and the 

statistic that I use is: if you have 1 million cubic metres of parcels being delivered into London and each van 

can hold ten cubic metres, you still have 100,000 vans now.  However, you chop that volume up, you still have 

the same number of vans.  What you find is that you get a difference in the density profile but you still have 

the same stem mileage.  The vehicles are still originating outside of London and driving into London, but you 

now have two vehicles one street away from each other, when perhaps previously they were three streets away 

from each other.  In our world we get very concerned about that.   

Page 47



 

  
 

 

My question would be, by adding an extra handling lane into a next-day parcel solution and taking an hour of 

productivity out of the day, is the actual consequence that you would increase the number of vehicles because 

the drivers have an impact on productivity, which defeats the objective from the outset?  That is probably the 

way I would think about it.   

 

Consolidation has its place, but it is all about the sector.  Sorry, I will not ramble on too much.  We talked to 

one of the boroughs, and they said, “We want to build a parcel consolidation centre”.  I looked at where our 

depots are, and myself and six or seven other carriers all have 50,000 square feet.  “We want to redevelop this 

area.”  I said, “OK, you are going to build 400,000 square feet of space?”  We do not have buildings bigger 

than we need, and people are not thinking about it in those terms.  Who is going to give us 500,000 square 

feet of industrial space, which nobody seems to want, in the middle of a new development?  It is just not going 

to happen, is it?  There is some thought around consolidation, and I think there is a lot of worry.  The people 

that I talk to feel like they do not understand what people are trying to achieve or they are not sure that it is 

going to achieve what people want it to.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That is a very interesting take.  Just quickly back to Alex, then.  We talked earlier on that 

you had lost your freight department that looks specifically at that.  Who is taking that strategic look?  When 

you hear these conversations, obviously there is a tension between the need for housing, for strategic 

industrial land, for sites right close in so you can have short distances, but also bigger spaces as well.  Who is 

having a look at this whole piece, and also involved in the local councils? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Ultimately, that rests with me, to be 

perfectly honest.  If Mike Brown [MVO] is the Commissioner [of TfL], I am on his executive committee, and his 

lead on freight on the executive committee is me. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Do you have that workstream that is looking at all of these tensions? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We are drafting the Freight and 

Servicing Action Plan, and that permeates across the organisation.  It will pick up our Commercial Development 

team, Graeme Craig’s [Commercial Development Director, TfL] team.  It will pick up all our work on safety, all 

of our work on emissions, and all of our work with the Surface Transport teams on the efficient trade networks.  

The buck stops with me, but clearly I draw on teams all over TfL to help me fulfil this.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Let me just quickly ask this last question.  Why is the specific proposal for all of London to 

be within a 30-minute drive of a construction consolidation centre being taken out of the Transport Plan? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I was not aware it was taken out, to be 

perfectly honest. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I have been reliably informed that it has been taken out.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It is in the final. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  OK.  I am afraid I do not know the 

answer to that one, so I probably need to come back to you on that.   

 

Page 48



 

  
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  It was not a specific proposal, whereas it had been in the draft.  It was 

watered down by the final. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  OK.  I do not know the specifics of 

that, so I need to get back to you on this -- 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  It goes back to my former point about the more I listen to this conversation, the more I 

realise this is actually very fundamental and it needs to be woven into any conversation you have about 

housing, about transport, and that is before we can even get to the point that we need some innovation.  Do 

we use these new, huge Tube stations we have at night for deliveries?  Who knows?  Unless someone is taking 

this broad, overall look at it, this will get missed.  Of course, the big worry is there are about to be 10 million of 

us, so none of this problem is going to be reduced.  It is just going to keep growing.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, exactly.  In terms of the specifics 

of why that was changed, I will come back to you on that.  Clearly, that was a draft and we consulted and we 

responded to it.  I cannot remember the specifics about why that was taken out, but I will come back to you on 

that. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Just listening to that, essentially there will be big challenges for 

London, and I think Jace [Tyrell] has touched on it in terms of the space.  When you are looking at somewhere 

like the West End, instead of trying to find spaces for those big warehouses, should we look at smaller 

consolidation sites?  You touched on it earlier, Jace, in terms of some of the shops having that additional floor 

space.  Personally, I would like to see them converted into play areas so I can go shopping with my kids, but 

that is another conversation.   

 

In terms of plans for co-located and distribution centres for maybe click-and-collect, stores working in 

collaboration with each other, what do you think are the challenges for that?  In the mix you have thrown big 

residential units.   

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  It does come back to planning.  The retail sector, 

the A1, if you are familiar with planning policy, is the most protected and regulated class in Britain.  You look 

at the department stores; we think there will be 25% less retail as we know it today in the next ten years in the 

West End and Mayfair.  We need those different uses and we need to drive customer demand, and retail will 

change as well.  The challenge at the moment is the planning policy, whether it is London or the borough level.  

It is just not keeping up pace with the sector.  It needs a rapid response to this.  We all talk about the 

challenge, but it takes a long time to get this through.   

 

I think it is interesting.  We sit on four neighbourhood forums, so at the very bottom end of what is happening 

in community planning.  When you sit with the residents and businesses, they want consolidation and they 

want less congestion.  In Soho we talk about consolidating restaurants because they get a lot of frequent 

deliveries because of the fresh produce and the restaurants, and they are keen now to look at: can four 

restaurants or ten restaurants work together, consolidate their distribution, consolidate their waste?  These are 

very live conversations at the SIL level at the neighbourhood forum.  If the planning policy up here were 

supporting that on the ground, then you could see some real change in this quite rapidly.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  I think you mentioned the Travis Perkins site where there was 

student accommodation and then the consolidation centre.  Do you think more co-locating like that would 

work? 

Page 49



 

  
 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  The Travis Perkins site still has a traditional builder’s yard underneath it, and over the top of it it has 

student accommodation, basically.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Where is this? 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  St Pancras Way, which is probably, for me, the best example that I have seen of people co-existing 

together.   

 

Absolutely, freight and logistics has the potential to co-exist with residential, and we are seeing more schemes 

coming forward with that piece designed.  There are some certain requirements.  It cannot be the type of 

operator who is bashing metal together or something like that.  It is all about finding the right partnership of 

operator and residential location, basically.  In principle, yes, but there are certain things that you have to talk 

about.  I find it interesting when you say it might be a nice idea to consolidate above a retail unit.  That is 

great, but how do I get all of our product up there and then back down, and how do I get my vans in?  If I 

cannot get my vans inside the building, I have a load of parcels on the first floor, but they are all parked on the 

street outside.  I think it is about finding the right combination of buildings, of occupiers and of residential 

locations.   

 

All of that plays together, and that is why Jace [Tyrell] is absolutely right.  It is not just a transport issue.  This 

crosses planning, this crosses retailers, this crosses transport policy, and it needs a much more holistic 

viewpoint. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Are there any international examples that you think have worked 

well that maybe we should be looking at in terms of this co-location and accommodating freight within cities? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The best example I have come across 

is in Paris, but I am fairly sure there was a substantial public subsidy to enable that to happen, where 

distribution was below substantial residential.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Is this that Chapelle International Logistics Hotel? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, I think that is it.  Yes.   

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  We have three facilities in Paris operated by our Chronopost vans.  We also have an interest in Chapelle 

as well.  We have taken people from the UK out to look at Beaugrenelle and - the name escapes me - a second 

location.  It is not a bad place to go visit, I must say.  One of them, Beaugrenelle, is an underground facility 

that has a combination of retail, residential and a school above it, so it is quite surreal.  You walk out of one 

exit and there is a playground, but it has been well designed.  There is no external parking, but head clearances 

inside are big enough to get an HGV into.  When you think about the design piece again, it is no use giving us 

something that has 1.9-metre clearance because I cannot get the quantity of parcels, or logistics operators will 

not be able to get the freight in effectively.  That design piece.   

 

There are some good examples in Paris.  I am sure I can facilitate a visit if anybody would like to go and look at 

them.   

Page 50



 

  
 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Before or after Brexit?   

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Yes.  We had better go see.  Yes, there are some good examples out there. 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  Singapore was touched on.  There is huge 

investment by the state there, though, in terms of this.  In terms of greening, sustainability, they are really 

ahead of the curve globally, and we look a lot at Singapore on smart cities, the use of technology to monitor 

different traffic and how they use the city as well.   

 

Tokyo is really good, though.  In terms of the Olympics, they are really ahead of the curve on this.  It is almost 

a decade from the Tokyo Olympics to London, and I would implore you to have a look at what is happening in 

Tokyo.  We are really impressed with what they are doing with people movement, freight, the whole city 

logistics.  I think the Japanese are doing a really good job there. 

 

Bond Street, closer to home, a very small example.  We have taken the yellow lines off, or Westminster Council 

did, which is revolutionary in the City of Westminster to take yellow lines off a street.  This was with TfL as 

well.  The way they are using the street, you would think it is very contemporary, but at different times of the 

day, whether it is logistics, people or just pedestrians, more of London’s streets should be smarter.  It is not 

just one use 24 hours a day.  We could learn a lot from that.  I am very happy to welcome you to Bond Street 

at any time, this [London Assembly Transport] Committee.  It is a bit closer to home.   

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Just to pick up Jace’s point as well, for us, by opening up that kerb space to delivery, it goes back to 

that productivity discussion.  Any time that you are pushing us ten minutes’ walk away from a location we need 

to get to, you lose productivity.  Smart use of kerb space is a great example of a way where you can increase 

that productivity and ultimately reduce the number of vehicles. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Just on Oxford Street, Bond Street and Regent Street, the 

discussions you are having with some of the big landowners, for example, the Crown Estate, and how you can 

essentially plan forward -- one of the things I notice when I am out in the West End is sometimes those shops 

that do not last long then will change hands.  What impact does that then have on the plans you have already 

agreed with some of the other retailers for that consolidation?  Are you then having to sign them up to this 

new plan, or, if they are a multi-national plan, do they have their own systems in place already?  How is that 

working logistically on the ground? 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  As I said, the great estates, the long-term 

landlords, really understand this.  They are building it in.  They are building the infrastructure.  They are writing 

it into their lease agreements now, whether it is commercial or retail, so they are doing a market-led approach.  

Bond Street was useful because we had 90 different owners, so it is smaller and the boutiques are smaller.  

Where it is more challenging is the national high street.  When you have the Marks and Spencer or John Lewis, 

they are national contracts working around the country.  It is far harder to bring these voluntary schemes in, 

and they are voluntary.   

 

The earlier point I made around incentivising really good change.  You have brands like Louis Vuitton.  These 

are global retail distribution logistics companies.  It is harder with some of the multinationals but it does not 

mean we should not try to incentivise to get some more of this happening on the ground. 

Page 51



 

  
 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Definitely that carrot and stick approach that you mentioned.   

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  The Crown Estate is excellent: Grosvenor.  Some 

really good stuff.  We are rolling it out now.  We are down from Bond Street to all of East Mayfair in the next 

12 months.  We would love to get Oxford Street in within two years.  By 2020 we would like all of our 74 

streets, all the businesses having access to some form of consolidation, whether it is personal deliveries, 

rubbish or servicing on a voluntary basis.  There are some really good operators out there.  Obviously it saves 

costs, so when they join these schemes we are consolidating down.  There is a business incentive on their 

bottom lines.  It is a really good example of how we incentivise businesses to join these schemes.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  It is just worth noting a couple of 

numbers on the Crown Estate scheme.  I would agree with Jace that they have been fantastic.  Twenty-one 

retailers signed up to it in Regent Street.  There was an 80% reduction in HGVs.  It is just showing you, when 

there is common ownership, it works really well.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  When you have that high-level discussion, it works? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, exactly. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Who is leading that discussion? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The Crown Estate. 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  The Crown Estate, but the BID has facilitated the 

occupiers where you do not have a dominant landlord.  The BID steps in where there is not a market leader.  

Oxford Street, very much the BID, and East Mayfair.  It is not one fix.  It is what works best on the ground, 

effectively.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Some of it is almost shared services, what we do across the GLA group.  

You get an economy of scale, which I would have thought for some of those smaller -- 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  It would make sense. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  When you talk about the West End, you are thinking it is shops, but 

you have all sorts of public relations companies and goodness knows what.  Being able to share their stationary 

supplies and stuff and reduce -- 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  Totally.  Two-thirds of our space is commercial, it 

is not retail, and it will be less retail in the future.  The big increase we have had recently is construction.  There 

is a huge amount of development happening in the City and the West End.  Consolidated construction vehicles.  

Why do ten vehicles come to one work site on Bond Street?  Is there consolidation in the construction sector, 

which we do not talk about as much?  We talk about servicing and delivery, but in construction there might be 

some thinking around that as well.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Our final section - Jace is already ahead of the curve - touched on this 

in terms of new technology and freight.  Keith, you are going to lead this for us. 

 

Page 52



 

  
 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you very much.  If I could start with perhaps Alex, if you do not mind, what are the 

challenges presented by the commercial use of drones and droids for London and freight deliveries? 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The short answer is I am not sure 

really, because the drones are so early and formative.  We really do not know how extensively they are going to 

be used.  There is talk about using them within depots to help sort and mix goods within a controlled 

environment, on the highway or in the public arenas.  There was another area that was looked at.  The National 

Health Service was looking at it as well.  There is lots of analysis about where they could potentially be used, 

but in terms of actual, practical examples on London’s roads or airspace, they have not been used, as far as I 

am aware.  It is in such an infancy that we do not really know the full effect of that.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  I think the [London Assembly Transport] Committee is quite worried about TfL’s whole 

approach to droids and drones.  I do not think it is taking it seriously.  There was hardly any mention of it in 

the MTS.  I think the big worry is that when you responded to our Committee you said TfL has also asked the 

DfT to clarify the legal status of delivery robots in order to understand whether or not legislation would be 

required to permit their use on the pavement.  Shouldn’t you really be asking - I would have thought - because 

this also goes wider to the whole area of not just drones and droids but also different types of 

people-carrying -- 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  Autonomous vehicles.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Yes.  Shouldn’t TfL really be asking for some overarching legislation to give it the power to 

react more quickly?  Every time something new - even like the dockless bikes - appears on the scene, you do 

not have any power to do anything, and then you have to go to the Government asking for particular 

legislation.  Rather than that, can’t you lobby Government for overarching powers to give you the ability to 

move more quickly to respond to all these different changes?  It is not just about droids and drones, but even 

the rickshaws.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Being ahead of the game. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Yes, exactly. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  The MTS has policy 21, I think it is, 

which talks about areas of innovation and change.  The reality is that the MTS up to 2041 cannot predict what 

the next Uber is or the next drone or dockless bikes system is, but what it was saying in that document was 

that any new initiative needs to be tested against the objectives of the MTS, which is about shifting towards 

sustainable modes and getting up to the 80% figure, reducing dependence on vehicle use.  I think any new 

initiative that comes along, we need to test it against that policy, and the innovation team at TfL under 

Michael Hurwitz [Director of Transport Innovation, TfL] does that for all of those innovations.  Like dockless 

bikes: they had come, they were going to take over the world, and then it looks as though they probably are 

not, when we are just getting our heads around the regulatory framework with London Councils to see how we 

would manage them.  These things come and go fairly rapidly, but the key thing for me is you test it against 

the policy objectives that are in the MTS. 

 

In terms of drones, I know that Michael [Hurwitz] and his team are working with Government on that, because 

I thought there was some legislation on that recently where we were consulted and we did respond to that.  

That is another one where I probably need to get back to you. 

 

Page 53



 

  
 

Keith Prince AM:  That is the point, Alex.  It is all well and good testing against the MTS, but surely it would 

be far better if TfL were to make a strong case - and I am sure the [London Assembly Transport] Committee 

would consider supporting it - that it is given greater overarching powers to pass bylaws to regulate these 

across the whole of London.  Otherwise we just have this mish-mash.   

 

We have people who come to London and dump bikes all over different boroughs.  Yes, we manage to deal 

with that, but we have people who have droids that are running along the pavements delivering takeaways, 

which nobody can tell us what the legal status of those are.  We have rickshaws going around charging people 

£600 just to ride 200 yards.  We need overarching legislation.  We need to make a case to Government to give 

TfL the power to react more quickly, not to have to keep going cap-in-hand to the Government for specific 

legislation for each thing.  Like you say, the dockless bikes have come.  By the time we get around to getting 

proper legislation, they will be gone. 

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  I think often those technologies come 

along and they expose the weaknesses of the current regulatory legal framework.  We would like to be able to 

respond more quickly and to address those issues more quickly.   

 

The reality, though, of getting primary legislation through is that it just takes a phenomenal amount of time.  I 

am going to give you an example -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That is the point, Alex.  Sorry, but that is the point.  If you could get primary overarching 

legislation for the ability to make bylaws, then you would not have to keep going through this long process 

every time because you would have the power to make bylaws.   

 

Alex Williams (Director of City Planning, Transport for London):  We would like that greater control, 

very much so, and I will speak to our Director of Innovation to find out what more we can do on that.  The 

reality of it, though, a thing to remember, is the last piece of legislation we got through, the London Local 

Authorities and TfL Act, took eight years.  It took eight years to go from concept and drafting to Royal Assent.  

Particularly if you think about the national circumstances, there is a backlog of legislation at the moment.  Our 

ability to be quick on that, our record is not as great as we would like, but that does not stop us asking, which I 

think is your main point. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I think that makes the point that you have to get one big lump through in one go, 

otherwise we will be here in 16 years’ time to try to regulate the dockless bikes, which are probably gone.  OK.   

 

Could I also ask Rob in relation to drones and droids, although apparently they are all drones?  Do you have 

any plans to use drones or droids? 

 

Rob Fowler (General Manager, Corporate Social Responsibility and Technical Planning, DPD Group 

UK):  Not at the moment.  I understand that in our European group they have started to look at them, but I do 

not have any information I can give you, to be honest with you, Keith [Prince AM].  It is still such early days in 

the process that I cannot give you anything now. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK.  Natalie, any comments on that? 

 

Natalie Chapman (Head of South of England and Urban Policy, Freight Transport Association):  We 

are always looking at new technology and what might come forward, and we need to be open to what the 

potential may be of different technologies.  I think we just need an environment where we can enable 

Page 54



 

  
 

businesses to innovate.  Some of that innovation will happen here, some of it will happen abroad, and we have 

multinational businesses that may, as Rob [Fowler] has said, do things elsewhere.  Then we have to look at 

how it works and in the context of the UK, and in particular here in London.  We just have to keep our minds 

open.  Some of these things may sound like pie in the sky but you never know where things may go.   

 

Certainly, with autonomous vehicles and autonomous features in vehicles, I do not think it is a case that we will 

go from the vehicles that we have now to suddenly it is all fully autonomous.  There are all these autonomous 

features that are coming forward.  Particularly if we look at HGVs, we are not talking about things like 

driverless HGVs.  There are some potential trials coming up looking at platooning on motorways.  Whether it 

will work in the UK, whether we have enough junctions, whether we have the space, that is still to be seen.  We 

obviously have to make sure all this stuff is done safely.  That is the first priority: we have to make sure it is 

safe.  What we need to be in the UK are pioneers of this technology, and if there is stuff that we can sell - the 

USP - to other countries, we can sell those ideas, we can sell that technology.  There is certainly I think a role 

for the UK technology sector in that as well.   

 

Certainly, if you are again looking at vehicles, looking at HGVs, some of those autonomous features coming 

forward - like autonomous braking - are the things that are going to take away the human error element.  If 

you get into a modern car now, some of the things that it incorporates in a modern HGV, compared to where 

we were just ten years ago, some of those features that are coming forward, some of them now are coming as 

standard.  We will start seeing more and more of those, and that is what we have to be embracing, particularly 

things that can help us improve our safety record and our environmental performance.  We really need to be 

embracing those technologies and enabling them to happen.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK.  Just one last question.  What are your views on droids running up and down the 

pavements? 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  It was a flippant remark, “Yes, the rooftops”, but 

actually you bet the companies that we represent are thinking about the next ten, 20, 30 years.  They are 

thinking about technology, whether it is real estate, whether it is retail.  Microsoft is opening its European 

flagship store in the middle of Oxford Circus in June [2019].  Of course it is thinking about drone technology, 

smart technology.   

 

To your earlier point, I did not realise there is an Innovation team at TfL.  It links back to your point: rather 

than responding to these changes, can we adapt and forward-forecast what we are expecting in the next ten to 

20 years?  Any of our companies would be putting 1% to 10% in research and development every single year 

thinking about this.  The public sector probably needs to get on that journey as well to help adapt and respond 

in the future. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  What about your view?  There is a company that has droids that run up and down the 

streets delivering -- I do not think they are pizzas -- 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  Amazon is looking at it.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  They had to stop because they were not allowed, but we did a site visit 

and had ice cream delivered to us, which was very -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I missed that actually.   

 

Page 55



 

  
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I think they have stopped.  Yes. 

 

Jace Tyrell (Chief Executive, New West End Company):  Amazon is doing a lot in this space.  Amazon is 

opening at Oxford Circus as well in the next 12 months, so it is coming.  It is how we respond in public policy 

and getting ahead of the curve, as you said. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you.  That is good. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK, lovely.  Thank you all so much for your contributions. 

 

 

 

Page 56



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 14 March 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Transport Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee, and additional correspondence. 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 4



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 5 February 2019 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. Freight in London 

During the course of the discussion, the Committee 

requested the following further information in writing: 

 Images of the extra visibility had from a five-star 

vehicle compared to a zero-star vehicle; 

 Data on the difference in the involvement of the 

extra-long lorries in collisions with pedestrians and 

cyclists, or whether all the data for HGVs is 

amalgamated; 

 How much money will be raised out of the ULEZ 

from the freight industry for central and inner 

London; 

 An update on any progress made with the 

Department for Transport and Network Rail on 

upgrading lines outside of London in order to allow 

freight to be moved around rather than through 

London; 

 An update on removing spoil by rail from HS2; 

 A timeline/date for when TfL will be conducting a 

staff survey to understand where staff get personal 

deliveries sent to;  

 Clarification on why the commitment for all of 

London to be within a 30-minute drive of a 

construction consolidation centre was removed as a 

specific proposal in the final Transport Strategy; and 

 An update from the Director of Innovation on TfL’s 

ability to respond to new technology (e.g. dockless 

bikes, drone and droids) within the current 

regulatory framework. 

 

 

In progress. 
 

Director of City 

Planning, 

Transport for 

London (TfL) 

 

Page 58



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 21 December 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

3. 

 

 

Crossrail – Questions to the Mayor of London and 

Commissioner of Transport for London 

The Committee requested the following information in 

writing: 

 Once ready, a copy of the Crossrail Governance 

Independent Review; 

 Once ready, a copy of the Crossrail Financial & 

Commercial Independent Review; 

 Once ready, a copy of the KPMG report into the 

remaining work required on Crossrail; 

 What improvements had been, and were to be 

made to improve Crossrail’s governance; and 

 A list of meetings between Mike Brown MVO 

and Siemens and Mike Brown MVO and 

Bombardier. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any follow up actions from the meeting. 

 

 

 

Complete.  See 

Appendix 1.  Copies 

of the reviews can be 

found here1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress. 

 

 

The Mayor of 

London and the 

Commissioner 

for TfL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

                                                 
1 www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-updates   

Page 59

tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-updates
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-updates


        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 5 December 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

The Mayor’s Healthy Streets Approach 

The Committee requested the following information in 

writing: 

 A copy of the report produced by TfL on the 

floating bus stops trial;  

 Information on the Healthy Streets Portfolio 

Board, including copies of meeting notes, terms 

of reference and ways of working; 

 Detail setting out the scope and arrangements 

for the grant scheme TfL intend to launch in 

2019 for community projects supporting cycling 

and walking; and 

 A copy of the report that will sit alongside the 

online strategic walking tool being made 

available to London Boroughs once it has been 

prepared in early 2019. 

 

That Authority be delegated to the Chair to, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

the final output for the investigation into the Mayor’s 

Healthy Streets Approach. 

 

 

In progress. The Chair 

wrote to guests on 

13 December 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

In progress. 

 

Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

Page 60



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 13 November 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

Taxis and Private Hire Services 

James Farrar, United Private Hire Drivers (UPHD), 

agreed to provide the following information: 

 A copy of the contract that Daimler provides to 

private hire vehicle drivers using ViaVan; 

 A copy of the letter from the Metropolitan Police 

Service (MPS) stating that Transport for London 

(TfL) had asked the MPS not to engage with the 

UPHD on safeguarding issues; 

 The number of members of the UPHD; and 

 A paper from the Licensed Private Hire Car 

Association from 2002 in which they stated that 

they did not support the need for driver training. 

 

Gareth Powell, Managing Director of Surface Transport, 

Transport for London (TfL); and Helen Chapman, 

Director of Licensing, Regulation and Charging, TfL, 

undertook to: 

 Share proposals to improve the working conditions 

of drivers working in the taxi and private hire 

services industry, which were outside of the 

regulatory framework; 

 Consider the suggestion to require operators of 

private hire services apps to make the app blank 

when the vehicle was moving, as part of the 

operating licences; 

 Provide details of the pass rate for the English test 

for private hire vehicle drivers, together with the 

pass rate for the four modules that comprised the 

test; 

 Provide an update on whether, as part of the review 

of the English test, it would be possible for a driver 

who had passed some modules but not all could be 

exempt from having to re-sit the modules which he 

or she had already passed; 

 Confirmation on when the proposals arising from 

TfL’s consultation on whether the congestion charge 

exemption for private hire vehicles should be 

removed would be available; 

 Details of the pricing model for the new black taxi 

 

In progress. The Chair 

wrote to guests 

29 November 2018. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
In progress. 

 

James Farrar, 

UPHD 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gareth Powell, 

Managing 

Director of 

Surface 

Transport, 

Transport for 

London (TfL); 

and 

Helen Chapman, 

Director of 

Licensing, 

Regulation and 

Charging, TfL. 

 

Page 61



        

being manufactured by the alternative provider; 

 Confirmation of the number of taxi drivers using the 

delicensing scheme; 

 Provide information on the requirement to give fair 

estimates of the cost of journeys; 

 Details about the number of Compliance Officers 

who had received training in the additional powers 

to stop and direct traffic, together the with the 

number of drivers they had taken off the road; 

 Details about the number of drivers TfL compliance 

officers had stopped but had not had to enforce 

against because the driver was licenced by another 

licencing authority; 

 Share TfL’s evidence to the Westminster Magistrates 

Court regarding Uber; 

 Provide the figure for the backlog of licence renewal 

applications 

 Provide a link to the published minutes of meetings 

between TfL and the taxi and private hire vehicle 

trade organisations; and 

 Confirm the number of the times the Transport 

Commissioner had met with the taxi and private hire 

vehicle trade organisations. 

 

   

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 9 October 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

5. 

 

 

Taxis and Private Hire Services 

The Chair invited guests to provide the Committee with 

their responses to Transport for London’s consultation 

on proposed changes to the congestion charge.  

In progress. The Chair 

wrote to guests on    

16 October 2018. 

 

Clerk 

 

Page 62



        

 Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 13 June 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

7. London TravelWatch Performance Report and 

Recruitment 

The Chief Executive of London TravelWatch agreed to 

provide the Committee with further details of the 

timeline agreed with Transport for London (TfL) for 

implementing London TravelWatch’s recommendations 

on ticket offices across TfL. 

 

 

 

In progress. Officers 

requested an update 

on 25 September 

2018. 

 

 

 

London 

TravelWatch 

 

 

 
 
3. Legal Implications  
 
3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
 
 
4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 
 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

Appendix 1 – Letter to the Chair from Mike Brown MVO 

 

 Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 5525 

E-mail:   david.pealing@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 63

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



Appendix 1

Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 14 March 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report outlines recent action taken by the Chair under delegated authority, in consultation with 

the party Group Lead Members, in accordance with the delegations granted to the Chair by the 

Transport Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the recent action taken by the Chair of the Committee under 

delegated authority, in consultation with party Group Lead Members. 

 
  

3. Background   
 

3.1 At the Transport Committee’s November 2018 meeting, it agreed: 

 

 “That Authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to make 

a further recommendation to the Mayor and London Assembly in relation to the London TravelWatch 

budget for 2019/20, which is a significant element within the London Assembly’s overall component 

budget, given that the current budget proposal has to date been agreed only on a provisional basis 

pending consideration of the London TravelWatch business plan and that the formal GLA Group 

budget-setting process is shortly to commence.”.  

 
 
4. Issues for Consideration 

  

4.1 Following consultation with party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed to release 6 months’ 

funding to London TravelWatch (LTW), and made a related decision following the review into LTW’s 

governance and capability. 

 

 

 

 

Page 69

Agenda Item 5



        

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1  There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None.  
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA Forms 1039 and 1042. 

 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5525 

Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 70

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Elizabeth Line 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 14 March 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion on the announcement of a delay to the opening 

of the Elizabeth line. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to a discussion with invited guests on 

the delayed opening of the Elizabeth line and notes the subsequent discussion. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output from the Committee’s work on Crossrail. 

 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1  The Elizabeth line is a new railway for London and the South East, running from Reading and 

Heathrow in the west, through 26 miles of new tunnels under central London to Shenfield and 

Abbey Wood in the east. The Elizabeth line is being delivered by Crossrail Limited.  

New state-of-the-art trains will carry an estimated 200 million passengers a year. The new service 

will reduce journey times, increase the capital’s rail capacity by 10 per cent and bring an extra 

1.5 million people to within 45 minutes of central London. 

 

3.2 The central section of the line was due to open in December 2018. On 31 August 2018, however, 

Crossrail announced that the opening was being delayed until Autumn 2019 as a result of further 

testing being required on the railway’s software systems and more time being required for fit-out of 

the tunnels. It is understood the opening will now be in 2020. 

 

3.3 The Mayor of London appeared with representatives of Transport for London (TfL) and Crossrail at 

the London Assembly Plenary meeting on 6 September 2018 to discuss this issue, and at the 

Transport Committee meeting on 21 December 2018. Crossrail and TfL have also appeared at 

Transport Committee meetings on 12 September 2018 and 9 January 2019.  

 
 

Page 71

Agenda Item 6



        

4. Issues for Consideration  

 
4.1 The following guests have been invited to the meeting to discuss this issue: 

 Rupert Walker, Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail;  

 Meliha Duymaz, Route Managing Director (Anglia), Network Rail; 

 Howard Smith, Operations Director, Crossrail; 

 Simon Wright, Consultant, Crossrail; and  

 Andrew Wolstenholme, former Crossrail CEO. 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: None.  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None. 

 

Contact Officer: Daniella Dávila Aquije, Scrutiny Manager  

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: Scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 72

mailto:Scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport Committee Work Programme 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 14 March 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides details of planned scrutiny work by the Transport Committee and the schedule 

of Committee meetings for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly year.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee agrees to hold a meeting on 25 April 2019, to be used to hold a 

question and answer session with the Commissioner of Transport for London. 

 

2.2 That the Committee agrees its work programme for the remainder of the 

2018/19 Assembly year, as set out in the report. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting.  

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following is a list of topics that the Committee is aiming to explore in this Assembly year: 

 River services; 

 National Rail; 

 Taxi and private hire services; 

 Freight; 

 Healthy streets; and 

 The Night Tube. 

4.2 The exact scope and timings for work on any of these other possible topics will be determined in due 

course and more detailed work programme reports submitted to future meetings. The Committee 

seeks to maintain flexibility in its work programme to take account of any relevant developments 

when scheduling its work and has a rolling work programme so work on any topics may continue 

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



        

beyond each Assembly year.  

 

National Rail 

4.3 The Committee is conducting an investigation into London’s National Rail network. Discussions at 

Committee meetings, a site visit and informal roundtable meeting have been undertaken.  A report, 

Broken Rails – A strategic review of London’s rail network, was published on 27 November 2018. 

 

4.4 The Committee held an urgent discussion on 25 June 2018, on the disruptions affecting rail 

passengers using services run by Govia Thameslink Railway since a new timetable was introduced in 

May 2018. A letter was sent to the Secretary of State for Transport following the meeting.  

 

4.5 Responses to the Committee’s report were received from TfL (and that response is attached at 

Appendix 1) and National Rail (Appendix 2). 

 

Night Tube 

4.6 TfL launched the Night Tube service around two years ago, progressively extending the service to 

additional lines. The Committee used its meeting in September 2018 to consider any challenges the 

service may face such as passenger usage, finances, anti-social behaviour and noise complaints. 

 

Taxi and Private hire 

4.7 The Committee has agreed to investigate taxi and private hire services, following up its 2014 report 

and subsequent scrutiny. The October and November 2018 Committee meetings were used to 

discuss this topic. A site visit to view an enforcement operation and further informal meetings have 

been undertaken. On 3 December 2018, the Committee convened a “Dragon’s Den” meeting with 

representatives of the taxi and private hire trades. A summary note of the event is attached at 

Appendix 3. 

 

Healthy Streets 

4.8 The Mayor has made the delivery of Healthy Streets a key priority of his Transport Strategy. Two 

new action plans on walking and road safety have been published in support of this. The Committee 

discussed this topic at its 5 December 2018 meeting and has conducted site visits to Hackney and 

Ealing. Findings from this work are being considered. 

 

Cycling infrastructure 

4.9 In 2017/18 the Transport Committee published a report on London’s cycling infrastructure. The 

report called for the Mayor to produce more detailed delivery plans for his planned cycling 

investment. The Mayor and TfL have now responded to the report.  

 

Bus consultations 

4.10 London Service Permits are licences granted to bus or coach services operating in London but not on 

the TfL network. As recommended in the Committee’s 2017/18 Future Transport report, TfL is 

modifying London Service Permits and is consulting on the changes.  

 

4.11 As recommended in the Committee’s 2017/18 London’s bus network report, TfL has proposed 

changes to bus routes in central London; these changes will also affect suburban services. The 

Committee delegated authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to 

agree a response to the consultation.  

Page 74



        

 

 

 

Elizabeth Line 

4.12 On 31 August 2018, Crossrail Ltd announced that it was delaying the opening of the central section 

of the Elizabeth line, which had been scheduled for December 2018. The Committee has monitored 

the delivery of the Elizabeth line in recent years via meetings and site visits (see below). The 

Committee spoke to the Deputy Mayor for Transport, and senior representatives of TfL and Cross 

Rail Limited at its meeting in September 2018. The Committee summonsed the Mayor of London, 

Sadiq Khan, and the Commissioner of TfL, Mike Brown, MVO, to a meeting on 21 December 2018. 

The Committee used its meeting on 9 January for a further discussion of progress with the project. 

In addition, the Committee has written a number of times to the Mayor about its findings.  

 

4.13 The Committee is using today’s meeting for a discussion on the Elizabeth Line, investigating causes 

of the delay and considering systems of governance and communication in place. Further 

information is provided under another item on this agenda. Findings from this work are being 

considered. 

 

Freight 

4.14 The Committee investigated freight in London, considering ways in which the Mayor and TfL may 

reduce the impact of freight traffic and move toward more sustainable ways of transporting goods in 

London. A letter to the Mayor and TfL was released on 28 February 2019.   

 

TfL Commissioner 

4.15 The Committee had originally planned to meet the TfL Commissioner on 5 March 2019 but has now 

been asked to use that meeting for a discussion on Crossrail, and to meet with the Commissioner at 

a specially arranged meeting on 25 April 2019.  

 

Responses to recent Transport Committee work  

4.16 The table below provides details of any responses due from the Mayor, TfL and/or others to 

Committee work.  

 

 

 

 

 

London TravelWatch 

4.17 The Greater London Authority Act 1999 establishes London TravelWatch as an arms-length body of 

the London Assembly. London TravelWatch provides regular reports to the Transport Committee. 

The Assembly’s responsibility for discharging functions and responsibilities in respect of London 

TravelWatch has been delegated by the Assembly to the Transport Committee.  This includes 

appointing the Chair and members of London TravelWatch (in consultation with the Department for 

Transport). 

  

 

 

 

Transport Committee work Details of responses due 

Letter on healthy streets A response from the Mayor is expected at the 

beginning of April. 

Page 75



        

Heathrow Airport 

4.18 A number of London Assembly committees have a remit to consider the implications of the proposal 

to expand Heathrow Airport, which is opposed by the Assembly. The Transport Committee scrutiny 

focuses on surface transport access to Heathrow. In 2018/19 the Committee considered freight 

movements to and from Heathrow Airport as part of its work on freight. 
 
Schedule of meetings 

4.19 The schedule of the remaining Transport Committee meetings for 2018/19 is set out below with 

details of the main prospective topics identified to date: 

 25 April 2019 – Meeting with TfL Commissioner. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Response from TfL to the Committee’s report, Broken Rails 

Appendix 2 – Response from National Rail to the Committee’s report, Broken Rails 

Appendix 3 – Summary note of the Dragon’s Den with taxi and private hire trades 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Daniella Dávila Aquije, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 76

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


Mike Brown MVO 

Commissioner of Transport 

Transport for London 
Palestra  
1 97 Blackfriars Road 
London SE1  8NJ 

Phone 020 3054 8900 
mikebrown@tfl.gov.uk 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE  
Chair, Transport Committee 
City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

London SE1 2AA 

28 February 2019 

Dear Caroline 

London Assembly Transport Committee report: Broken Rails – a rail service fit for 

passengers  

Thank you for your letter of 26 November 2018 and the work that you have led with the 

London Assembly Transport Committee to produce the ‘Broken Rails’ Report. As you will 

know, a Government-backed independent national rail review, led by Keith Williams, is 

currently underway so these recommendations come at a particularly good time to 

contribute to the debate.     

As part of the Mayor’s Transport Strategy, we are committed to bringing major 

improvements to the rail network. Too often Londoners are not having the quality of 

experience that they are entitled to expect: issues on our rail network such as 

unreliability and overcrowding are creating stress for customers and make the public 

transport network less attractive. At the same time, the Mayor has set a target that by 

2041, 80% of journeys will be made using sustainable transport options, including rail. 

We therefore fully agree that a single holistic rail strategy for London would be beneficial 

for passengers and would help to deliver the improvements that are desperately needed. 

Delivery of an improved rail network, functioning as a suburban metro with higher 

capacity, frequency, and reliability, has the potential to unlock growth across London.  

We have already demonstrated what this could look like: since the introduction of the 

London Overground in 2007 we have delivered vital improvements for passengers and 

increased ridership by over 600 per cent, decreased delays by 30 per cent and increased 

in customer satisfaction by 10 per cent. The benefits of the London Overground 

operating model for passengers are clear and we would welcome the chance to bring 

these benefits to more passengers in the London and south east region.  

Please see our response to the individual recommendations in the report below. 

Appendix 1

Page 77



 

 

Recommendation 1 - Effective small-scale interventions  

Network Rail needs to deliver a plan to enable more frequent and longer trains to run on 

existing infrastructure across London, using a series of strategic, targeted upgrades. The 

Mayor and TfL need to press the Department for Transport and Network Rail to deliver 

these priority projects urgently.  

 

We agree that targeted, small scale interventions can make a big difference to passengers 

and we have made these sorts of incremental changes on the London Overground where 

possible. For example, we have included changing service frequency on the North and 

West London Lines to match the growth in demand in the West London Line; increased 

the length of trains from 3 cars to 4 cars and then to 5 cars to match growing demand; 

and introduced additional early and late services. This model should be rolled out across 

other parts of the network; however, there is currently no incentive for franchise 

operators to do so unless it is commercially viable. 

 

Our model of working with operators using a concession contract provides incentives to 

improve services, often by making incremental changes to respond to fluctuations in 

housing and employment and local demand factors. This contrasts with the traditional 

franchise model, under which it is expensive and time consuming for the franchising 

authority to change service levels due to the uncertainty around the impact on revenue 

and the renegotiation that has to take place.  This model may be suitable for longer 

distance services but does not work for urban railways where operators are not 

incentivised to respond to changing housing and employment needs.    

 

We continue to make these points to the Department for Transport (DfT), most recently 

through our initial evidence to the Williams Rail Review.    

 

Recommendation 2 - Healthy Stations  

The Mayor and TfL should produce a Healthy Stations Charter based on the principles of 

their Healthy Streets Approach. The aim should be to deliver a drastic improvement in 

how stations can be accessed by cyclists and pedestrians, including by passengers with 

disabilities. Every station should be assessed against the Charter in partnership with 

passengers using that station.  

 

We are embedding the Healthy Streets Approach in everything we do and we agree with 

the Committee that improving access to stations for cyclists, pedestrians and people 

with disabilities should be a priority. We already include access to stations in our Healthy 

Streets Check for Designers to ensure opportunities to improve station access are 

identified in the earliest stages of designing changes to streets. We also have actions 

related to this in our Walking Action Plan and Cycling Action Plan.  

 

Our Cycling Action Plan acknowledges that supply of cycle parking at major stations does 

not meet demand and this is a priority for us. We will work at our own stations and with 

Network Rail to provide more cycle parking at stations, including exploring opportunities 

to deliver more secure cycle parking hubs. This builds on the success of the hubs already 

in place at Walthamstow Central, Edmonton Green and Finsbury Park stations.  

 

Our Walking Action Plan commits to delivering exemplar ‘Active Travel Hub’ TfL 

stations, including: 

Page 78



 

 

 

 Early delivery of ‘trial stations’ by 2019, boosting the walking experience 

through enhanced active travel information and promotion, staff training, and 

better public realm 

 Wider roll-out of programme across TfL stations from 2019, depending on 

the results from trial stations. 

 

We would welcome the opportunity to work with Network Rail to further embed the 

holistic Healthy Streets Approach in the design and management of stations and their 

interface with the surrounding streets and connecting transport services. 

 

Recommendation 3 - A new approach to passenger engagement  

TfL, Network Rail and Train Operating Companies need to recognise that passengers care 

about their local stations and the services they can access there. For every station in 

London, regardless of its management, there should be dedicated passenger engagement 

with a specific station user group for people using that station. 

 

We agree that passengers should be at the heart of everything we do. For too long the 

railway network has been structured around the movement of trains, rather than of 

customers. We know that passengers care about their local stations and services and as 

mentioned above we are committed to making small improvements that make a tangible 

difference to customer journeys. Devolution of further services to TfL would result in us 

applying our approaches to station staffing, ticketing, information and data, and facilities 

standards which we know from experience will lead to higher passenger satisfaction.    

 

It is worthwhile to note that we already undertake a large amount of public engagement 

and scrutiny. Examples of this include engaging with local communities; scrutiny by 

London TravelWatch; passenger surveys, including a customer satisfaction survey; and a 

dedicated complaint process through our customer service centre. This, coupled with 

the high level of democratic accountability for our services, ensures that passenger 

engagement is at the centre of our service.  

 

We believe that careful consideration will need to be given to the proposal for user 

groups for every station, especially regarding the benefits that this will bring to 

passengers above and beyond those provided by existing engagement. 

   

Recommendation 4 - A single rail strategy for London  

London has no rail strategy. TfL and Network Rail should produce a rail strategy for 

London that all parties will commit to implementing, which will improve rail services for 

passengers in London.  

 

We agree that a single holistic rail strategy for London would be beneficial for 

passengers. While we already have a detailed strategy for growing public transport use 

more broadly in future – the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS) puts forward a vision for 

transport in London, including plans to reduce crowding and improve rail services – it is 

important that everyone commits to an integrated multi modal strategy in which rail 

plays a key part. We work with Network Rail continuously to develop London’s rail 

strategy to support this overall policy direction. 

 

Page 79



 

 

We would be happy to report back to the committee on these discussions later in the 

year.    

 

Recommendation 5 - Improving accessibility  

The money available for accessibility upgrades, so that everyone can get to the trains 

they need, is far too small. The Department for Transport needs to reconsider the 

amount of Access for All funding available and ensure all priority upgrades are delivered 

in the next five years. The Mayor and TfL should strongly press the Department for 

Transport to increase funding.  

 

The vision set out in the MTS is a transport system for all Londoners. Accessibility 

remains a key priority for us and for the Mayor, and important infrastructure and service 

changes that we have made reflect this: for example, around half of the London 

Overground’s 112 stations are step free from street to platform. This is coupled with a 

‘turn-up-and-go’ service that improves accessibility for customers with reduced mobility.  

 

Despite this, we agree that more funding needs to be made available for improved 

accessibility upgrades across the whole of the transport network and will continue to 

make this case to the DfT.  

 

Recommendation 6 - Increase funding for London’s rail network  

TfL should consider all options to increase funding for London’s rail network. This 

includes funding Network Rail schemes where necessary, and contributing to projects 

outside of London’s boundaries, such as freight routes, where this will enable the 

provision of more frequent and bigger trains for passengers in the capital. 

 

In line with the MTS, we are pressing the DfT and Network Rail to upgrade rail freight 

routes outside London so that non-London freight can be taken around the capital. As 

you state this would free up rail paths through London for additional passenger services. 

We want to see full use of existing rail paths between Felixstowe and Nuneaton and 

electrification of the corridor to allow more freight services to avoid London. A new line 

linking the ports around Tilbury with the Great Eastern Main Line would allow freight 

traffic from the Essex Thameside route to access the Felixstowe to Nuneaton corridor 

without the need to pass through London.  

 

We would be happy to meet with you to discuss how we can deliver improvements for 

customers across London’s rail network. I would also be happy to share our response to 

the William’s Rail Review, which provides further insight into how TfL is proposing to 

improve customer experience on our rail network.  

 

Thank you again for giving us the chance to respond to your recommendations.  

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

 

Mike Brown MVO  

Page 80



Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Chair of the Transport Committee 
London Assembly  
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London   SE1 2AA 

Rupert Walker 
Strategy and Planning Director 
Network Rail  
James Forbes House 
27 Great Suffolk Street 
London   SE1 0NS 

28 February 2019 

Dear Caroline, 

Broken Rails report 

Further to Andrew Haines’ letter to you in December I would like to provide Network Rail’s 
response to your report “Broken Rails: a rail service fit for passengers”. 

We welcome the report’s focus on delivering real change for passengers and recognise that 
we can do more to deliver a better and more joined up railway. 

Central to this will be the recently announced changes to Network Rail to make sure it is 
unequivocally on the side of passengers and set up to drive better performance by putting 
railway users’ needs at the heart of all our thinking. 

During the next control period, starting in April, we will be significantly investing in operations, 
maintenance and renewals to improve train service reliability and performance. 

This follows a series of major infrastructure upgrades across London, for example 
Thameslink and Waterloo, to allow longer trains and more frequent services. We are also 
developing the cases for further upgrades to benefit passengers in London, including on the 
Brighton Main Line, at Woking and at south London stations suffering from overcrowding. 

Greater collaboration between Network Rail and Transport for London is also essential to 
improving the service passengers in London experience. 

To build this partnership and improve the way Network Rail works in London we have 
commenced the following initiatives: 

• Developing a joint London rail strategy with Transport for London, as recommended
in your report

• Establishing a London strategy team within Network Rail to coordinate cross-London
rail strategy with the local route teams

• Discussing with stakeholders the merits of setting up a London strategic forum for rail.

Appendix 2

Page 81



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This approach will help us to jointly identify and build the case to address important issues 
for London rail, such as accessibility and overcrowding at stations. 
 
If you would like to meet in person to discuss our response in more detail, please don’t 
hesitate to get in touch. I would be happy to update the Transport Committee on progress 
later in the year.  
 
Yours sincerely,  
 
 

 
 
 
Rupert Walker 
Strategy and Planning Director (South) 
 
 
cc  Jonathan Fox, TfL  
 
Attached: Appendix - Network Rail’s response to the Greater London Assembly Transport 
Committee’s report “Broken Rails: a rail service fit for passengers”. 
 
 

Page 82



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix – Network Rail’s response to the GLA Transport Committee’s report 
“Broken Rails: a rail service fit for passengers” 
 
Response to Recommendations 1-6 
 

Recommendation 1 - Effective small-scale 
interventions  
Network Rail needs to deliver a plan to 
enable more frequent and longer trains to run 
on existing infrastructure across London, 
using a series of strategic, targeted 
upgrades. The Mayor and TfL need to press 
the Department for Transport and Network 
Rail to deliver these priority projects urgently.  

• Network Rail’s focus for the next five years is 
improving train service performance by 
making changes to put passengers first and a 
significant investment in operations, 
maintenance and renewals during Control 
Period 6 (CP6).  

• It follows major upgrades across London 
during the current control period to enable 
more frequent services and longer trains 

• For example, improvements at London Bridge 
and Waterloo have enabled significant 
increases in the number of passengers 
getting seats. Passengers are now benefiting 
from bigger and better stations with new 
platforms for more trains and better 
connections. 

• The Thameslink Programme and other CP5 
investment has increased capacity and 
connectivity through central London and 
beyond. Full deployment of the class 700 fleet 
and expected new metro area rolling stock 
through the upcoming Southeastern franchise 
award will complete a step change in 
capacity. 

• Network Rail is developing further proposals 
to unblock bottlenecks at East Croydon, 
Woking and at several congested junctions on 
the West and South London Lines. Currently 
at business case stage, these projects will 
allow both longer trains and more frequent 
services. We welcome support for our funding 
applications as these cases are developed 
over the coming years.  

• Through partnerships with the private sector 
we aim to transform the passenger 
experience and address severe overcrowding 
at London Victoria, Clapham Junction and 
Liverpool Street. 

• We recognise that although we have a 
number of planned upgrades and projects 
which will bring benefits to passengers and 
freight users across London we recognise that 
these could be better expressed in a single 
London plan and are establishing a team to 
do this. We will continue to work with the DfT, 
TfL and train operators to review the optimum 
allocation of capacity as the market for 
services into and around London continues to 
evolve. 
 

Page 83



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

Recommendation 2 - Healthy Stations  
The Mayor and TfL should produce a Healthy 
Stations Charter based on the principles of 
their Healthy Streets Approach. The aim 
should be to deliver a drastic improvement in 
how stations can be accessed by cyclists and 
pedestrians, including by passengers with 
disabilities. Every station should be assessed 
against the Charter in partnership with 
passengers using that station. 

• We fully agree that we should develop a clear 
vision for the enhanced experience we want to 
offer our passengers at our stations.  

• We are working on this with train operators 
(TOCs) to better understand passenger 
priorities, the first step in building a ‘Healthy 
Stations Charter’. One of our transformation 
workstreams is passenger journey mapping, 
which will highlight the areas along the 
passenger journey where we are getting it 
right and wrong for all passenger types. This 
will be used to drive decision making within the 
South East route to ensure there is full 
understanding of the impact our decisions 
have on passengers. 

• We will be looking at ways to improve access 
for passengers with both visible and non-
visible disabilities at our stations. Our ambition 
is stations which can incorporate autonomous 
and integrated travel for everyone, with the 
option for assisted help to be available if 
needed.  

• We are fully committed to working with TfL on 
this to ensure passengers should experience 
the same level of seamless service and 
accessibility wherever they travel.  

• We are increasing the availability of cycle 
parking at Charing Cross station, with two tier 
racks being installed, to integrate a better 
cycle to rail experience. We have also bid for 
funding from the DfT to improve the facilities at 
Victoria and Cannon Street stations and we 
are reviewing the wayfinding to existing cycle 
rack provisions for our passengers 

• Our Railway for Everyone study, which will 
report in the Spring, will identify opportunities 
to remove barriers and make rail travel a more 
attractive option for all. 
 

Recommendation 3 - A new approach to 
passenger engagement  
TfL, Network Rail and Train Operating 
Companies need to recognise that 
passengers care about their local stations 
and the services they can access there. For 
every station in London, regardless of its 
management, there should be dedicated 
passenger engagement with a specific 
station user group for people using that 
station. 

• Network Rail has recently announced changes 
to become a more customer focused, service 
driven organization. This includes devolving 
operating capability to a more local level, so 
we can deliver a better service for passengers. 

• Work to become more engaged with 
passengers is already happening, for example 
the introduction of a station transformation 
team on the South East route, with a remit to 
increase passenger satisfaction at the 
managed stations, a first for Network Rail. 

• We are currently measuring passenger 
satisfaction through the National Rail 
Passenger Survey; however, we understand 
its limitations and are looking at improved 
methods for measuring passenger satisfaction 
and collecting their feedback, such as using 

Page 84



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

“Happy or Not” buttons and sentiment analysis 
from social media. 

• We work very closely with London Travel 
Watch and Transport Focus to ensure a 
coordinated industry approach for service 
enhancements at our stations. 

• We run frequent meet the manager sessions 
within our stations. These are vital forums for 
our management to understand the 
passengers’ views and make decisions which 
are focused on delivering benefits for them.  

• In collaboration with train operating companies 
we have introduced a workstream to address 
the way our passengers receive information 
during disruption. This will ensure passengers 
receive a consistent message across various 
forms of communication and allow them to 
arrange alternative travel where required.  
 

Recommendation 4 - A single rail strategy 
for London  
London has no rail strategy. TfL and Network 
Rail should produce a rail strategy for 
London that all parties will commit to 
implementing, which will improve rail services 
for passengers in London.  

• Although London has a transport strategy with 
many recommendations relevant to the 
railway network, we agree this is a gap for 
London rail holistically, and further work is 
required to identify the next level of detail 

• TfL and Network Rail have already developed 
a remit for a joint strategy and will work 
together on a shared vision and objectives for 
rail in London and the wider London 
commuter area, which will outline in more 
detail existing priorities for enhancement and 
a timetable of priorities for strategic 
development.  

• Together with TfL we will begin detailed work 
on the strategy soon, including stakeholder 
engagement. 
 

Recommendation 5 - Improving 
accessibility  
The money available for accessibility 
upgrades, so that everyone can get to the 
trains they need, is far too small. The 
Department for Transport needs to 
reconsider the amount of Access for All 
funding available and ensure all priority 
upgrades are delivered in the next five years. 
The Mayor and TfL should strongly press the 
Department for Transport to increase 
funding. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Network Rail is mid-way through a study 
(Railway for Everyone) which will identify 
prioritised opportunities to remove 
impediments and offer rail travel as a more 
attractive option for more people – the study 
will report in the Spring.   

• Whilst this is a network-wide study it will 
identify opportunities in London to compliment 
TfL’s priorities. 
 

Page 85



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

Recommendation 6 - Increase funding for 
London’s rail network  
TfL should consider all options to increase 
funding for London’s rail network. This 
includes funding Network Rail schemes 
where necessary, and contributing to projects 
outside of London’s boundaries, such as 
freight routes, where this will enable the 
provision of more frequent and bigger trains 
for passengers in the capital.  

• We are keen to identify opportunities to 
maximise benefits within London including 
schemes outside the capital.  

• We plan to produce a framework for 
investment in London interchange stations. 

• Network Rail will continue to make the case 
for investment with partners such as TfL, the 
GLA and business groups within and outside 
London. 

• As part of our Open for Business programme 
we are making it easier for other 
organisations to invest in the railway and work 
with Network Rail. 
 

 
 
Notes / Comments on the detailed report 

1.4 – The growth in demand and the strain 
on infrastructure impacts rail passengers. 
London’s rail services are too often crowded 
and unreliable. Rail passengers reliant on the 
national rail network also face expensive 
fares. On top of this, Londoners who rely on 
national rail services often still contend with a 
few trains per hour compared to the “turn-up-
and-go” service offered across much of the 
Underground and London Overground 
networks.  
 

• The focus for CP6 will be improving reliability 
and performance through a significant 
investment in operations, maintenance and 
renewals, as well as developing the cases for 
investment in several large improvement 
schemes to benefit London commuters, 
including on the Brighton Main Line, at Woking 
and at Clapham Junction.  

• The recent work to increase capacity on the 
central London Thameslink route is an example 
of the way that services can act like an 
alternative Tube line, in this case delivering 
trains every 2-3 minutes through central 
London between Blackfriars and St Pancras 
International. Improvement work on the 
Brighton Main Line is also a key part of a £300 
million government-funded programme to tackle 
delay hotspots and boost the reliability of the 
railway in the south east, including the 
expanded Thameslink network. 

 

1.7 – Network Rail sets out plans for the 
future of the rail network in five-year windows 
called Control Periods. Network Rail is 
currently in the process of finalising plans for 
Control Period 6 (CP6) which will run from 
2019 to 2024. Each of Network Rail’s 
devolved routes publishes its own plans for 
CP6. For London, this means plans for the 
rail network are covered by the six route 
businesses that converge on the capital. A lot 
of the focus in CP6 will be on maintenance 
and renewals in order to help improve the 
reliability and efficiency of the railway. 
 
 
 
 

• Network Rail currently develops strategy and 
produces industry studies covering London on 
a corridor (or route) basis. This generally 
focuses on rail services into a London rail 
terminal. To develop a more consistent 
approach in the future, strategies will also be 
developed on a London-wide basis giving focus 
to issues such as passenger interchange 
between National Rail and TfL services and 
orbital rail capacity.  

Page 86



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

1.8 – From 2019, rail enhancements (new 
projects rather than maintenance and 
renewals projects) will no longer be agreed 
as part of the five-year control period 
planning process. This means there will no 
longer be a list of committed enhancements 
projects which will be undertaken during the 
five-year control period.  
 

• The Rail Network Enhancements Pipeline 
(RNEP) sets out a new approach for rail 
proposals that require government funding. 
This approach will create a rolling programme 
of investment, focused on outcomes that 
provide benefits for passengers, freight users 
and the economy. It also has the advantage of 
moving government investment in 
enhancements away from a rigid five year cycle 
and ensuring projects are properly scoped 
when committing to a budget. 

• Network Rail will continue to make the case for 
investment with partners such as TfL, the GLA 
and business groups within and outside 
London. 

 

1.10 – Network Rail’s plans, though moving 
in the right direction, are limited. TfL notes 
that while these projects “move us firmly in 
the right direction, […] continued major 
investment will be needed beyond that to 
keep pace with London’s growth.” Equally, 
London TravelWatch notes that many of the 
proposed Network Rail enhancements are as 
yet “largely unfunded”. 
  
 

• We are keen to develop strong cases to 
support our investment plans, and that these 
meet the needs of passengers and freight 
users, and funders’ requirements.  During the 
next five years we will be concentrating on 
improvements on the Brighton Main Line, at 
Woking, Clapham Junction and several 
congested south London stations and welcome 
the stakeholder support we’ve already received 
for these schemes.   The RNEP process means 
that funding decisions for our future plans get 
taken progressively as the schemes develop 
and we and the supply chain are ready to 
commit to cost and schedule.  With high 
demand for Government funding there is a 
need to work with third party investors to help 
deliver the enhancements London needs. 
 

1.19 – A metro-style rail service across 
London’s suburban network has long been 
talked about but has yet to be delivered. We 
look at the impact that bigger trains and more 
reliable and frequent rail services would have 
on suburban London. We argue that many of 
the steps to achieve this ambition have been 
identified. But now, Network Rail needs to 
implement a plan of strategic and targeted 
upgrades in order to deliver on these 
ambitions. For their part, the Mayor and TfL 
need to press the DfT and Network Rail to 
deliver these upgrades.  
 

• A significant investment will be made in CP6 to 
help the railway to operate more efficiently to 
improve reliability and performance. 

• The recent work to increase capacity on the 
central London Thameslink route is an example 
of the way that services can act like an 
alternative Tube line, in this case delivering 
trains every 2-3 minutes through central 
London between Blackfriars and St Pancras 
International. Improvement works on the 
Brighton Main Line are also a key part of a 
£300 million government-funded programme to 
tackle delay hotspots and boost the reliability of 
the railway in the south east, including the 
expanded Thameslink network. 

• The Thameslink Programme and other CP5 
investment to improve power supply and 
lengthen platforms across the Southern Region 
has increased capacity and connectivity 
through central London and beyond. Full 
deployment of the class 700 fleet and expected 
new metro area rolling stock through the 

Page 87



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

upcoming Southeastern franchise award will 
complete a step change in capacity.  

• To meet continued forecast increased demand 
in London and the surrounding region during 
the next 10-15 years, Network Rail is 
developing further proposals to unblock 
bottlenecks at East Croydon, Woking and at 
several congested junctions on the West and 
South London Lines. Currently at business 
case stage, these projects will allow both longer 
trains and more frequent services 

2.12 – Londoners have waited too long for 
these improvements – the rail industry needs 
to find a way forward to ensure these 
upgrades are delivered. Network Rail must 
prioritise delivery of strategic, targeted 
upgrades that together will help ensure more 
frequent and longer trains across the 
network. In short, moving towards metro-
style services wherever possible. For their 
part, the Mayor and TfL need to press the 
Department for Transport and Network Rail 
to implement these small-scale, immediate 
projects. This targeted and coordinated 
approach should bring real benefits to 
passengers across the suburban rail 
network.  
 
 

• A significant investment will be made in CP6 to 
help the railway to operate more efficiently to 
improve reliability and performance, following 
major investment during CP5 to allow longer 
and more frequent trains. The recent work to 
increase capacity on the central London 
Thameslink route is an example of the way that 
services can act like an alternative Tube line, in 
this case delivering trains every 2-3 minutes 
through central London between Blackfriars 
and St Pancras International. Improvement 
works on the Brighton Main Line are also a key 
part of a £300 million government-funded 
programme to tackle delay hotspots and boost 
the reliability of the railway in the south east, 
including the expanded Thameslink network. 

• The Thameslink Programme and other CP5 
investment to improve power supply and 
lengthen platforms across the Southern Region 
has increased capacity and connectivity 
through central London and beyond. Full 
deployment of the class 700 fleet and expected 
new metro area rolling stock through the 
upcoming Southeastern franchise award will 
complete a step change in capacity.  

• To meet continued forecast increased demand 
in London and the surrounding region during 
the next 10-15 years, Network Rail is 
developing further proposals to unblock 
bottlenecks at East Croydon, Woking and at 
several congested junctions on the West and 
South London Lines. Currently at business 
case stage, these projects will allow both longer 
trains and more frequent services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

2.14 - London’s railway stations are not 
always welcoming gateways to the rail 
network. The area surrounding London’s 
stations can feel unpleasant and poorly 
integrated into the local area. In our meeting 
with rail passenger  
groups, we discussed how the environment 
around stations is often not well cared for 
and that this can make people using the 
stations, particularly at quieter times of day, 
feel unsafe. 
 
 
 

• The introduction of our Station Transformation 
Programme has increased the focus in this 
area. We recognise that in the past the 
integration between our stations, the local 
environment and community could have been 
better, and we have already started work to 
improve this. 

• We are working closely with the business 
improvement districts associated with our 
stations and are engaged with the work they 
are completing to regenerate the local areas, 
including how the stations interact with the local 
community.  

• We have introduced an outreach programme 
partnered with local charities which will bring 
about a dedicated resource that will be working 
with the homeless community at our stations. 

• In addition, we are embarking on the installation 
of TAP London card readers that provide a safe 
and secure way for our passengers to donate to 
homeless charities in a sustainable manner and 
discourage the giving of food and money to 
those begging in the local area. 

• We will be using the exhibition spaces that we 
have in our stations to showcase the local 
community through exhibitions such as choirs, 
bands, art exhibitions and local theatre 
productions. 

• We are working closely with the British 
Transport Police and have run security events 
at the stations to engage with passengers on 
important campaigns such as ‘See it, Say it, 
Sorted’ and cycle theft.  

• Network Rail teams use their volunteer days to 
support and help local communities and 
charities, building relationships and forging long 
term connections locally. 

 

 

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90



Appendix 3 

 

Summary of notes for taxi and private hire trade meeting (“Dragons Den”) 3 December 2018 
 
 
Gett Taxi representatives: James Hutchinson  
 
Representatives were invited to give an overview of their role in the sector and what value 
they added 
 
Gett identified its key role as a method for bringing black cabs into the taxi app space. They 
set out their history including their purchase of existing companies Radio Taxis and One 
Transport group to boost their Black Cab fleet as well as offer corporate account services (as 
a licensed operator) for a range of vehicles. 
 
Gett’s predominant role is as a technology solution.  It says that around half of all black cab 
drivers have signed up to the Gett platform at some point and that it works closely with the 
trade to deliver a technological platform that helps keep the licensed taxi trade up to date. 
It sees black cabs as very important to its business and also provides services to people with 
disabilities and special educational needs. Gett acknowledges that not all drivers support 
them but that they aim to be a positive and healthy company. It takes 12% commission on 
black cab fares. 
 
Gett is keen to emphasise its environmental credentials and its role in helping relieve 
London’s transport challenges, noting that its business model is built on existing fleets 
rather than adding additional vehicles to the roads. It is also supporting the development of 
hybrid and electric taxis and where possible offering incentives to drivers who adopt one on 
the platform. 
 
Members asked what Gett viewed as the main challenges currently for the industry. 
 
Gett flagged that the provision of wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAV) in the private hire 
sector was very low and that addressing this needed a systemic response (not just individual 
operators) 
Gett shares the concerns of the black cab trade around the threat of restrictions to access of 
elements of the road network, particularly ‘broad brush’ road restrictions. 
  
On fares, Gett highlighted an inbuilt issue around fare tariff structures, noting that the 
tiered pricing mechanism meant that taxis were cheapest when demand was high and most 
expensive when in demand (because of the T3 fare) and suggested a review of the tariffs 
might be helpful. It said the public perception of taxis as an expensive mode of transport 
was skewed by experiences when the T3 tariff is in place. 
 
On the PH exemption to the congestion charge, Gett suggested that this would on the one 
hand help close the cap on the black cab meter but, on the other hand, impact larger app-
based PH operator models less than smaller operators.  
 
On TfL as a regulator, Gett said TfL was on the whole doing a good job but there was a need 
for primary legislation to support its activities. Gett is broadly support of the Dft review into 

Page 91



 

 

taxi and private hire licensing, and particularly highlighted the need to resolve the issue of 
cross-border hiring, which risked ‘making a nonsense of the role of the regulator’. Gett 
emphasised the need for TfL as the regulator to collaborate with the industry on policy. 
On the PH cap – Gett cautioned that a blanket cap was likely to benefit larger app-based 
operators over smaller operators, and suggested that ‘rebalancing’ was needed rather than 
a ‘flat’ cap. It referenced the need for there to be exemptions for WAVs in any cap (as in 
New York).  
 
Members asked if the rapid current growth in the private hire market was sustainable. 
 
Gett’s position is that it was not, and acknowledged issues around congestion and the 
impact on the wider public transport network, including the impact of secondary congestion 
from drivers cruising between fares. It said that a ‘commercial free for all’ was ultimately 
not good for London. It noted the need for competition, and that there had been significant 
downward pricing pressure in the sector over the last few years  but that upward pressure 
was now beginning to change market dynamics and suggested further study of this was 
needed. 
 
 
 
 
------------------------------- 
 
Viavan representative: Jess Oppetit 
 
Representative invited to give an overview of their role in the sector and what value they 
added 
 
Viavan views itself as an enhancement to existing public transport options and a potential 
contributor to improved efficiency on first mile/last mile elements of door-to-door mobility. 
Its model emphasises the potential environmental benefits and congestion reduction 
potential of shared/pooled rides, with more passengers in shared vehicles rather than in 
private cars. Viavan is a tech company that seeks to utilise existing fleet vehicles rather than 
add new vehicles to the roads. ViaVan noted that it has dozens of partnerships across the 
world with cities, transit agencies, and other operators to provide public transport. 
 
Viavan explained that its model was dynamic in terms of routing, pricing and pick-up, and 
added to active travel because people were usually asked to walk towards the vehicle to be 
picked up. It also said it has the potential to augment existing door-to-door services such as 
dial-a ride. Viavan supports efforts to improve public transport accessibility in areas with 
low existing provision of public transport, with a view to improving access and affordability. 
It supports TfL’s announcement that it will look to trial demand-responsive bus services in 
outer London. Viavan also supports a greater push towards environmentally cleaner vehicles 
and WAV provision.  
 
 
 

Page 92



 

 

Members asked about the key challenges 
 
Viavan noted that shared rides were not the key focus for most companies in this sector. It 
referenced the need for there to be clearer delineation in regulatory space between single 
occupancy vehicle rides and multi-passengers. It highlighted New York City’s approach 
where the MTA tax for single occupancy is $2.75 per trip and for pooled rides it is $0.75c. It 
highlighted that NYC is measuring the efficiency of pooled riding and suggests it is three 
times more efficient.  
 
 
Members asked about where modal shift to this model was coming from 
 
Viavan suggested that the journey distances indicated that it was unlikely that its service 
was displacing walking as primary mode, and more likely to be displacing single occupancy 
trips and private car use. It suggested that if bus services in places like outer London were 
able to be more dynamic to passenger demand more people would use them.  
 
 
Members asked about measures to ensure the safety of passengers and drivers 
 
Viavan says this is a key priority and that it was providing 24 support and text/phone/email 
contact  even before TfL mandated it. It says it has a comprehensive face-to-face driver 
training package. Its drivers are licensed private hire drivers and also undergo those checks. 
For passengers, because people are asked to walk towards an agreed meeting spot there is 
little risk of shared riders knowing where someone lives.  
 
 
Members asked about driver welfare issues 
 
Viavan takes a 15% service fee from its drivers. It says it is concerned about drivers working 
excessive hours (noting that its drivers are “self employed” and can and do work for other 
app companies. Viavan says that drivers can only log in to its app for ten hours at a time to 
reduce potential for driver fatigue.  
 
On driver earnings, Viavan said its drivers enjoyed the flexibility to be able to work for 
different apps. It gives drivers options to be paid on a fixed hour rate or get paid by trip, so 
its drivers receive above the London Living wage.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



 

 

Karhoo representative: Dr Michael Galvin, Chief Operating Officer 
  
Representative invited to give an overview of their role in the sector and what value they 
added 
  
Karhoo explained that it was an open, ‘vendor neutral’ platform which aggregates supply 
from operators (taxi and private hire (PH)), allowing smaller operators to access larger 
corporate contracts which they normally would not be considered for. It describes itself as 
‘supplier agnostic’ and its predominant market is Travel and Travel Related Electronic 
Platforms. Its charges are a transparent 10 per cent fee. 
  
Members asked about key challenges facing the sector 
  
On safety and enforcement, Karhoo suggested that enforcement was ‘moving in the right 
direction’, but highlighted concerns about levels of sexual assaults and poor reporting 
practices by some firms, suggesting that national minimum (not minimal) standards in this 
area would be welcome. Better training for licensing officers and enabling them to take 
action against any licensed vehicle/driver (and the associated issues with enforcement 
jurisdictions) who is in their area are key issues. 
  
On congestion, Karhoo suggested that London follow New York’s approach to using data to 
create an evidence base for changes to policy, for example by looking in more depth at how 
to utilise tracking data to look at the impact of private hire on congestion. They noted that 
vehicle tracking technology is relatively cheap but that the requirement should be on 
operators not drivers. They acknowledged that this issue was more problematic for black 
cabs as drivers are almost all owners and would need to fund the tracking equipment. 
  
Karhoo indicated that there would be merit in reviewing the process (but not the standards) 
for the Knowledge of London as the number of taxi drivers is drifting downwards. 
  
On the sustainability of pace of growth of the sector, Karhoo suggested current growth was 
not really sustainable in the longer term, but there were signs that the number of licence 
applications/renewals within the sector was showing signs of tailing off and that market 
forces were beginning to act on this organically (for example, through people deciding that 
they could not make a sustained living and therefore not renewing licences).  
  
On WAVs, Karhoo believes the current supply is not adequate and that because there was a 
perception of lack of supply those that existed were poorly utilised. They suggested that this 
could be remedied by finding a mechanism to aggregate the supply of WAVs across different 
operators (possibly through an app) to manage supply and demand better. They suggested 
this could be a quick win’ for TfL. They also suggested the possibility of mutualising 
resources in the sector for demand-responsive services. 
  
Members asked about TfL’s performance as a regulator 
  
Karhoo’s view was that there had been some improvement in TfL’s regulatory performance, 
but there still needed to be a stronger sense of collaboration with the trades backed up with 

Page 94



 

 

effective regulation. The view was that TfL was not a ‘natural born regulator’ and that it 
needed to be more open and consultative with the trades. They also acknowledged that it 
takes both sides (TfL and the industry) to collaborate. 
  
They also suggested that consumer and disability groups should be involved as important 
stakeholders on issues such as accessibility. 
 
------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

Uber representatives: Tom Elvidge, Benjamin Bell 
 
Representatives were asked to give an overview of their role in the sector and what value 
they added 
 
Uber said that its vision was ‘to help cities by reducing congestion, pollution and the need 
for private car ownership and to deliver safe, accessible and affordable transport across all 
modes. They indicated that they were now moving into a phase where they provided access 
to multiple modes of transport through their app (citing trains, electric bikes and public 
transport). Uber is also looking to increase the use of shared rides through its Uber pool 
service. 
 
Uber says it sees itself as complementing rather than competing with public transport, 
particularly in outer London with a focus on reducing private care ownership, and is using its 
significant data sources to map demand. It has highlighted that the Night Tube has decrease 
demand in the centre but increasing it for the last mile home from night tube stations.  
 
Members asked what steps Uber was taking to ensure it was fit and proper as an operator/a 
responsible business 
 
Uber set out how it was cooperating with TfL on the conditions set on its licence. On data 
breaches, they were confident that the company had learnt from previous mistakes and that 
that the corporate culture and personnel had changed accordingly. This included 
establishing a board of directors to strengthen decision-making and governance as required 
by the licensing terms.  
 
Members asked about driver conditions and earnings 
 
Uber said it had: 

 Launched free injury and illness insurance provision, parental payments and other 
benefits to drivers 

 Introduced limits to driver hours to prevent driver fatigue with the app restricting 
total driving time to 8 hours then a minimum of ten hours logged off 

 
Uber said it was still advocating for flexibility for drivers but was looking in the future to 
explore options for ‘smoothing’ driver income and tackling income uncertainty.  
 
Uber currently takes a 25% commission 

Page 95



 

 

 
Uber said it was looking to use its scale advantage to reduce the cost of driver overheads 
(such as phone data)  
Uber challenged reports that drivers had to work a minimum of 35 hours to begin making 
any money and said that median driver income was £11ph after costs.  

 
On WAVs, Uber said that its service had increased access to WAVs in real-time with a 
waiting time of around 12 minutes where previously these services often had to be booked 
days in advance.   
 
 
Members asked about safety and enforcement 
 
Uber said it was working with the Met to improve incident reporting including what and 
when to report and was confident that it was making progress. It also highlighted that it 
now provided a 24/7 telephone support line for passengers and drivers and an in-app safety 
toolkit.  
 
On environmental issues, Uber said it is aiming for every car on the app to be fully electric 
by 2025. It highlighted issues with rapid charging infrastructure in London as the key 
obstacle to this ambition and suggested the possibility of Uber charging stations which 
would double as rest stations for drivers.  
 
Other initiatives included introducing a ‘Clean air fee’ of 15p per mile to be included on 
every trip booked through the app in London. This would go into individual funds for drivers 
to upgrade to cleaner vehicles.   
 
 
 
 

Page 96


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	03a Minutes - Appendix 1 - Freight in London

	4 Summary List of Actions
	04a Appendix 1 - Mike Brown Letter

	5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	6 Elizabeth Line
	7 Transport Committee Work Programme
	07a Appendix 1 - 28 Feb 2019 - TfL Response to Broken Rails_Final
	07b Appendix 2 - Broken Rails report - Network Rail letter to Chair Caroline Pidgeon
	07b Appendix 1 - Broken Rails report - Network Rail letter to Chair Caroline Pidgeon
	Broken Rails report - Network Rail response

	07c Appendix 3 - Notes from Dragons Den with Taxi and Private Hire




